UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research at Birmingham

BGCS uterine cancer guidelines:

Sundar, Sudha; Balega, Janos; Crosbie, Emma; Drake, Alasdair; Edmondson, Richard; Fotopoulou, Christina; Gallos, Ioannis; Ganesan, Raji; Gupta, Janesh; Johnson, Nick; Kitson, Sarah; Mackintosh, Michelle; Martin-Hirsch, Pierre; Miles, Tracie; Rafii, Saeed; Reed, Nick; Rolland, Phil; Singh, Kavita; Sivalingam, Vanitha; Walther, Axel

DOI:

10.1016/j.ejogrb.2017.04.015

License:

Creative Commons: Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND)

Document Version
Peer reviewed version

Citation for published version (Harvard):

Sundar, S, Balega, J, Crosbie, E, Drake, A, Edmondson, R, Fotopoulou, C, Gallos, I, Ganesan, R, Gupta, J, Johnson, N, Kitson, S, Mackintosh, M, Martin-Hirsch, P, Miles, T, Rafii, S, Reed, N, Rolland, P, Singh, K, Sivalingam, V & Walther, A 2017, 'BGCS uterine cancer guidelines: Recommendations for practice', *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, vol. 213, pp. 71-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2017.04.015

Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal

General rights

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

•Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.

•Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.

•User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?)

•Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.

Download date: 09. May. 2024



BGCS Uterine Cancer Guidelines: Recommendations for Practice

Authors: Sudha Sundar, Janos Balega, Emma Crosbie, Alasdair Drake, Richard Edmondson, Christina Fotopoulou, Ioannis Gallos, Raji Ganesan, Janesh Gupta, Nick Johnson, Sarah Kitson, Michelle Mackintosh, Pierre Martin-Hirsch, Tracie Miles, Saeed Rafii, Nick Reed, Phil Rolland, Kavita Singh, Vanitha Sivalingam, Axel Walther.

Reviewers: Des Barton, Robin Crawford, Marcia Hall, Jonathan Ledermann, Simon Leeson, Jo Morrison, Tim Mould, Raj Naik, Andy Nordin, Adeola Olaitan, Nick Reed, Andrea Rockall, Phil Rolland, Panos Sarhanis.

International Reviewers: Frederic Amant, Stephano Greggi.

Editorial Assistant: Charlotte Leeson

The remit of this guideline is to collate and propose evidence based guidelines for the diagnosis and management of uterine cancer. This document covers all uterine cancers of any histological type.

Hierarchy of evidence

Recommendations are graded as per the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists document. Clinical Governance Advice No. 1: Guidance for the Development of RCOG Green-top Guidelines (available on the RCOG website at

https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/clinical-governance-advice/clinical-governance-advice-1c.pdf

See appendix for more details.

Evidence was searched in the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, MEDLINE and EMBASE up to August 2014, registers of clinical trials, abstracts of scientific meetings, reference lists of included studies and contacted experts in the field. Recent ASCO/ASTRO and ESMO-ESGO-ESTRO guidelines on endometrial cancer were also reviewed in the preparation of this guideline (1,2).

Guideline development process

- 1) These guidelines are the property of the BGCS and the Society reserves the right to amend/withdraw the guidelines.
- 2) The guideline development process is detailed below
 - a. Chair, officers, council and guidelines committee (GC) nominated a lead for each guideline topic
 - b. Lead then identified a team called the guideline team (GT) to develop the 1st draft
 - c. 1st draft was submitted to the GC
 - d. GC approved draft and recommended changes
 - e. Changes were accepted by the GT who produced the guidelines
 - f. 2nd draft was then submitted to council members and officers
 - g. Council and officers approved 2nd draft and recommended changes
 - h. Changes were then accepted by GC and GT
 - i. 3rd draft was sent to national and international peer review
 - j. GC and GT then made changes based on peer review comments
 - k. 4th draft was sent back to council for approval
 - I. 4th draft was sent to BGCS members for feedback
 - m. GC and GT then made changes based on members' feedback
 - n. 5th draft was sent to public consultation including patient support groups
 - o. GC and GT then made changes based on non-members' feedback
 - p. Final draft was approved by council and officers.

Contents		
1.	Introduction	5
2	Screening and prevention of uterine cancer in the population and high risk groups	5
۷.	Selective screening of high risk groups	5
	Prevention in the general population	6
	Prevention in high-risk groups	7
3.	Diagnosis of endometrial cancer	7
	Presenting symptoms	7
	Diagnostic methods	8
4.	Pathways for management of endometrial cancer	10
	Where women are treated	10
	After treatment	10
	Failsafe	11
5.	Investigations – imaging and pre-operative work-up	11
	Imaging	11
6.	Pathology of uterine cancer	12
	Clinical information required on the specimen request form	13
	Reporting of small biopsy specimens	13
	Reporting of frozen sections	13
	Testing for mismatch repair proteins	13
7.	Endometrial cancer –surgery at presentation	14
	Early disease (FIGO stage I and II)	14
	Late disease (FIGO stage III and IV)	16
8.	Adjuvant treatment of endometrioid endometrial cancer	18
	Progesterone therapy	18
	External beam radiotherapy	18
	Brachytherapy (vaginal vault radiotherapy)	20
	For late stage disease	20
	Chemotherapy	20
9.	Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in endometrial cancer	21
10.	Management of unfit patients with endometrial cancer	22
	Vaginal hysterectomy	22
	Radiotherapy	22
	Progestogens	23
11.	Management of women wishing to preserve their fertility	24
12.	Non-endometrioid cancer: uterine serous carcinoma	24

	Treatment of recurrent USC	27
13.	Non-endometrioid cancer: uterine clear cell carcinoma	27
14.	Non-endometrioid cancer: uterine carcinosarcoma	30
15.	Management of uterine sarcomas	32
	Uterine leiomyosarcoma	33
	Early stage leiomyosarcoma	33
	Adjuvant treatment for early uterine leiomyosarcoma	34
	Advanced stage or recurrent leiomyosarcoma	34
	Management of patients with endometrial stromal sarcoma	35
	Early stage endometrial stromal sarcoma	35
	Advanced or recurrent endometrial stromal sarcoma	35
	Uterine adenosarcoma	36
16.	Follow-up for endometrial cancer	36
	Technique	37
	Frequency of visits	38
	Eliciting symptoms at follow-up	39
	Follow up for endometrial sarcomas	39
17.	Supportive care – addressing patient needs	39
	Background	39
18.	Management of relapsed endometrial carcinoma	40
19.	Areas of future research/developments	43
20.	Bibliography	44
21.	Appendices	58
	i - Evidence level and grades of recommendation for standards of care	
	ii - FIGO staging of endometrial cancer and uterine sarcomas	
	iii - Stratification of endometrial cancer risk of recurrence	
	iv - Flowchart for management of endometrioid endometrial cancer	

1. Introduction

Uterine cancer is the sixth most common cancer worldwide for females, and the 14th most common cancer overall, with more than 319,000 new cases diagnosed in 2012 (5% of female cases and 2% of the total). Endometrial cancer incidence has increased by around 50% in the United Kingdom since the 1990s, to 8,475 women in 2011 and causing 2,025 deaths in 2012. 78% of women with adult uterine cancer diagnosed in 2010-2011 in England and Wales are predicted to survive ten or more years. (http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/cancer-info/cancerstats/types/uterus/uk-uterine-cancer-statistics). This increase in incidence is likely due to increasing obesity, increased life expectancy and adjuvant tamoxifen for breast cancer and is confined to endometrioid endometrial cancer (3).

2. Screening and prevention of uterine cancer in the population and high risk groups

There is no evidence that screening asymptomatic women in the general population with transvaginal ultrasound scanning (TVS) or endometrial sampling reduces the mortality from endometrial cancer (EC). (Grade D)

In women with postmenopausal or abnormal vaginal bleeding TVS is widely used in the investigation of possible EC. A large meta-analysis found that an endometrial thickness (ET) of \leq 4mm reduced the probability of EC to <1% (4).

However, in women without abnormal vaginal bleeding, the same thresholds have unacceptably high false positive rates and poor sensitivity. Jacobs et al. (5) and Smith-Bindman (6) have published data suggesting better sensitivity of TVS at alternative ET cut-offs, however in the absence of mortality data or a consensus on recommended cut-offs, this cannot be extrapolated to justify the adoption of ultrasound screening of asymptomatic women.

Endometrial sampling, e.g. with a Pipelle©, is indicated in symptomatic women with a thickened endometrium on TVS, however its use in asymptomatic women may be limited by perceived limitations of acceptability. Endometrial biopsy can result in discomfort, bleeding, infection and rarely uterine perforation. In asymptomatic women, up to 25% of endometrial biopsies may yield insufficient tissue for diagnosis (7). No studies have evaluated the efficacy of TVS or endometrial biopsy in reducing mortality from EC in the context of mass screening.

Selective screening of high risk groups

Women with Lynch Syndrome and their first degree relatives could be offered annual screening with TVS and endometrial biopsy from the age of 35 years after counselling about the risks, benefits and limitations of screening. (Grade C)

Premenopausal women with Lynch syndrome should be counselled to seek medical attention for persistent intermenstrual bleeding or irregular heavy periods. (Grade C)

Between two and 5% of cases of EC are inherited rather than sporadic. Lynch syndrome (previously called Hereditary Non Polyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC)) is associated with a significantly increased risk of EC (both type I and II tumours) compared to the general population, with up to a 40-60% lifetime risk (cf. 3% in the general population) (8). Lynch syndrome is caused by an autosomal dominant inherited mutation in DNA mismatch repair genes that promotes tumour development affecting the colon, endometrium and ovary. The risk differs depending upon the germline mutation. The mean age at diagnosis is 47 years, compared to 60 years for non-inherited

EC, however in the limited comparison data available it appears that prognosis and survival are similar.

The high risk of EC in Lynch syndrome and an earlier age at onset, together with a detectable and treatable premalignant or early malignant stage, is justification for screening in these women (9). There is no evidence that screening reduces mortality from EC. Screening does not take the place of risk reducing hysterectomy, and there are concerns that should screening reduce the uptake of hysterectomy the incidence of EC in this population may increase. It is debatable whether a TVS is of benefit in a premenopausal woman. Equally, if the ET in a postmenopausal woman is within normal limits it is unclear what additional benefit would be derived from an endometrial biopsy. There is no formalised programme in place and provision for these patients varies between institutions.

Routine screening with TVS, endometrial biopsy, or both has not been shown to be effective in patients on tamoxifen. (Grade C) Postmenopausal women taking tamoxifen should be routinely questioned at breast cancer follow-up visits about symptoms of vaginal bleeding /discharge and should be made aware of the risks. Symptoms in these women should be investigated with hysteroscopy as well as biopsy and ultrasound. (Grade D)

Tamoxifen is a selective oestrogen receptor modulator (SERM) widely used in the treatment of breast cancer and has recently been approved for breast cancer prophylaxis in the UK. It has been associated with an increased risk of endometrial polyps, hyperplasia and cancer. Results from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 trial reported a doubling of EC risk (RR 2.53 cf. placebo, 95% CI 1.35-4.97), amongst postmenopausal women (RR 4.01, 95% CI 1.70-10.90). Premenopausal women treated with tamoxifen did not have an increased risk of EC (RR 1.21, 95% CI 0.41-3.60) (10).

Adjuvant tamoxifen maybe used up to 10 years after breast cancer treatment and use should be reassessed if endometrial hyperplasia is identified (11). Pre-treatment screening of postmenopausal women may be beneficial to identify high-risk groups with pre-existing occult abnormalities.

Ultrasound measurements of endometrial thickness are poorly correlated with endometrial pathology in asymptomatic women using tamoxifen due to tamoxifen induced sub-epithelial stromal hypertrophy. Ultrasound has a high false positive rate, even at an endometrial thickness cut-off of 10mm (12), and a low positive predictive value in this group.

Prevention in the general population

Maintaining a healthy body mass index (BMI) reduces the risk of EC. Obese women who lose weight through bariatric surgery or lifestyle changes may reduce their risk of EC. Physical activity may be an effective EC risk reduction strategy, particularly for overweight or obese women. (Grade A)

EC ranks highest amongst all cancers in its association with obesity, with every 5kg/m2 increase in BMI conferring an extra 1.6-fold increased risk of EC. In the ASTEC trial, a ramdomised controlled trial (RCT) of more than 1,400 women with early stage EC, 80% of women with type I EC were overweight and 50% were obese (13). While an average woman has a 3% lifetime risk of EC, obese women have a lifetime risk as high as 9-10%. In Europe, excess weight has been estimated to account for 60% of all new EC cases per year (14).

Maintaining a healthy BMI is likely to reduce the risk of EC. Women who had a lower BMI in later life compared to their BMI at age 20 were 50% less likely to develop EC compared with those whose BMI

had remained constant or increased slightly (15). Additionally, women who sustained weight loss for five years of more had a 25% lower risk of developing EC than those who had no weight loss (16).

Bariatric surgery (gastric bypass or banding to reduce stomach capacity) can result in 10-15% excess body weight loss by six weeks after surgery with continued weight loss up to about one-year post-surgery (17).

A prospective Swedish study of morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery or medical weight loss management reported a 38% reduction in cancer incidence in women who sustained weight loss of 20kg for 10 years or more (18). A retrospective case-control study found a 38% decrease in cancer incidence, including EC, in the bariatric surgery group compared with controls that were obese (19). Bariatric surgery also resulted in a seven-fold reduction in incident endometrial cancer risk (14/6,596 bariatric surgery patients versus 98/9,442 controls who were obese, HR 0.22, p<0.0001) in another retrospective study (20).

The World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research review concluded that increased physical activity probably reduces EC risk (WCRF/AICR, 2007). A meta-analysis found that moderate physical activity reduces the risk of EC, particularly for obese or overweight women, when compared with low physical activity (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.44-0.88).

Prevention in high-risk groups

Risk reducing surgery is an effective means of preventing EC in high risk women. (Grade C)

Supporting evidence

Prophylactic hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy when fertility is no longer required is an effective strategy for preventing endometrial and ovarian cancer in high-risk women (21). Women with Lynch syndrome have a 40-60% lifetime risk of EC. A case-control study compared women with documented germ-line mutations associated with Lynch syndrome who had undergone prophylactic hysterectomy with those who had not. There were no occurrences of EC among women who had undergone prophylactic surgery compared with 33% of the control group, yielding a prevented fraction of 100% (95% CI 90-100%) (Schmeler et al., 2006). But surgery is challenging in obese women with increased risk of intraoperative complications and post-operative morbidity.

Alternative approaches which need further investigation include the levonorgestrol intrauterine system and weight loss interventions.

3. Diagnosis of endometrial cancer

The reader is directed to RCOG guidelines on the management of endometrial hyperplasia and National Institute for Health and Clinical Care Excellence (NICE) guidance (NG12) on referrals for suspected cancer (22).

Presenting symptoms

Women with endometrial cancer classically present with postmenopausal bleeding (PMB), which is defined as vaginal bleeding that occurs at least a year after the last menstrual period and in those who are not taking hormone replacement therapy (HRT). The probability of endometrial cancer in women presenting with PMB is 5–10% (23), but the chances increase with age and risk factors. Premenopausal and perimenopausal women may present with intermenstrual or prolonged bleeding, often with a background of irregular, dysfunctional menstruation that suggests anovulation.

Diagnostic methods

Current guidance

In the UK, recommendations for diagnosis and referral are based on guidance from NICE (22,24).

History and examination

Women presenting with PMB, unscheduled bleeding on HRT, persistent prolonged or intermenstrual bleeding should receive an abdominal, speculum and pelvic examination at their clinical assessment. Women with menorrhagia over 45 years, or those with irregular bleeding or failure of treatment over 45, need endometrial sampling. (Grade D)

When a patient presents with any of the above presenting symptoms, the primary healthcare professional should undertake a full abdominal and pelvic examination, including speculum examination of the cervix (22). The clinician should obtain a detailed account of the presenting symptoms, a full drug history (including use of HRT, oral contraceptive pill, tamoxifen), and a gynaecological history (early menarche/late menopause, known endometrial hyperplasia, parity). Medical, family and surgical history may be relevant (obesity, treatment for breast cancer, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and Lynch syndrome).

Referral pathway

When women not on HRT present with PMB, general practitioners in the UK should refer them to a rapid access gynaecology clinic to be seen within two weeks (22). Likewise, when a woman who has stopped HRT for at least six weeks previously and then presents with persistent or unexplained bleeding, an urgent referral should be made (22). Similarly, an urgent referral should also be considered in a patient with postmenopausal bleeding on tamoxifen treatment and those having intermenstrual bleeding with a negative pelvic examination (22).

Investigations

TVS with measurement of endometrial thickness should be employed as initial investigation for women presenting with PMB. (Grade B)

The best diagnostic strategy in patients with suspected endometrial cancer still remains controversial. There is a range of investigations available for investigating suspected endometrial cancer and include the TVS, hysteroscopy and endometrial biopsy. The strategy with TVS followed by endometrial biopsy if abnormality is detected is the most cost-effective for the UK population in which the prevalence of endometrial carcinoma is lower than 15% (25). Adnexal pathology identified at ultrasound should be documented in the ultrasound report and investigated as appropriate.

Accuracy of TVS and cut off for endometrial thickness

Double layer endometrial thickness measurements on TVS with a cut off of ≥4 mm should be investigated. In the absence of any irregularity of the endometrial profile, and an endometrial thickness of <4mm, no further investigations are required unless there is recurrent PMB. (Grade B)

TVS is an accurate and precise diagnostic method for endometrial cancer. A comparative study found that calculating endometrial thickness was easier with transvaginal ultrasound than with transabdominal ultrasound (26). A recent study concludes that the first step in the diagnostic pathway should be the measurement of endometrial thickness followed by endometrial sampling. Sensitivities of 98%, 95% and 90% to exclude endometrial cancer are seen with cut-off levels of 3mm, 4mm and 5 mm of endometrial thickness respectively (24,27,28). TVS also reliably identifies

postmenopausal women with vaginal bleeding who were unlikely to have cancer (thickness of 3mm or less), which would mean that unnecessary endometrial sampling could be avoided (27). In postmenopausal women on HRT or tamoxifen and in premenopausal women measurement of the endometrial thickness alone is not diagnostically useful. The upper endometrial thickness limit for postmenopausal women on HRT is 8mm if asymptomatic (29), but if vaginal bleeding is present a biopsy should be taken if the thickness is greater than 5mm. The 5mm cut-off has also been suggested for postmenopausal women on tamoxifen (21). However, the definitive diagnosis of endometrial cancer is by histological sampling. If the TVS is suggestive of cancer, or if ultrasound is not available, an urgent referral should be made (22).

Endometrial biopsy

In patients with a TVS endometrial thickness measurement of ≥4 mm, an outpatient endometrial biopsy should be carried out. (Grade B)

The Pipelle and Vabra aspirator devices used for endometrial sampling are very sensitive techniques for the detection of endometrial carcinoma (30). A sample of endometrial tissue should be obtained in the gynaecology outpatient setting. A systematic review of 13 diagnostic evaluations showed that a Pipelle biopsy leads to a high overall diagnostic accuracy when an adequate specimen is obtained (post-test probability of endometrial cancer of 81.7% for a positive test and 0.9% for a negative test), but is also acceptable when an insufficient sample is obtained provided the device was inserted more than 4cm through the cervical canal (30). However, further evaluation is warranted in cases of persistent abnormal vaginal bleeding despite negative biopsy.

Hysteroscopy

Hysteroscopy should only be carried out if outpatient endometrial biopsy is not feasible or for women with ultrasound irregularities and at high risk of endometrial cancer. (Grade B)

Hysteroscopy should, where possible, be carried out as an outpatient procedure. (Grade C)

Hysteroscopy tends to be reserved for patients at high risk for endometrial cancer and patients in whom outpatient biopsy was inadequate. It is used with regional or general anaesthesia for those who cannot tolerate outpatient examination and biopsy, and for patients with cervical stenosis which cannot be managed in the outpatient setting. Hysteroscopy also has the added benefit in detecting ultrasound irregularities, such as endometrial polyps. The accuracy of hysteroscopy in diagnosing endometrial cancer and hyperplasia in women with abnormal uterine bleeding was determined by a systematic review of data on 26,346 women (31). A positive hysteroscopy result (likelihood ratio 60.9) increased the probability of cancer to 71.8% from a pre-test probability of 3.9%, whereas a negative hysteroscopy result (likelihood ratio 0.15) reduced the probability of cancer to 0.6%.

Recurrent PMB should be investigated by hysteroscopy and endometrial biopsy. (Grade D)

Hysterectomy may be considered in cases of unexplained recurrent PMB. (Grade D)

In cases of recurrent PMB where the patient has been investigated and no cause identified, hysterectomy may be indicated and should be discussed with the patient.

4. Pathways for management of endometrial cancer

All women with confirmed or suspected endometrial cancer should be discussed at a specialist gynaecological cancer multidisciplinary team meeting (SMDT). (Grade D)

Women with presumed FIGO Stage 1A endometrioid cancer, G1 or G2, may undergo surgery by a gynaecologist at a Diagnostic Centre who is a core member of an SMDT. (Grade D)

Women with papillary serous, clear cell, carcinosarcoma, endometrioid G3 or FIGO 1B (≥50% myometrial invasion on MRI) or above should undergo surgery at a Cancer Centre by specialised surgeons who are core members of an SMDT. Women requiring radiotherapy or chemotherapy should be treated by a medical/clinical oncologist who is a core member of an SMDT. (Grade D)

At all times women should have an identified key worker and responsible clinician. (Grade D)

Treatment summaries, including symptoms of recurrence, should be provided to all women on completion of each episode of treatment and on discharge to primary care. (Grade D)

Robust failsafe mechanisms should exist for all steps along the pathway. (Grade D)

Appropriate data collection infrastructure and staffing support should be in place to allow proper assessment of the safety and effectiveness of all parts of the service. (Grade D)

The NHS Cancer Action Plan in 2002 set target Cancer Wait Times including the 14, 31 and 62 day targets to see and treat patients who may have a diagnosis of cancer. These were updated in the 2010 document "Going Further on Cancer Wait Times". Women suspected of having endometrial cancer should be referred urgently and seen within two weeks and should have begun treatment within 62 days of referral. The target of 31 days from the date of the decision to treat until starting treatment, defined as treatment was discussed and agreed with the patient, applies to all cancer diagnoses whether or not referred as a suspected cancer (14-day pathway).

Providers should analyse data on their local pathways to adjust pathways and capacity to plan treatment in time to achieve these targets (32). Where investigation is initiated in primary care, TVS should be performed within two weeks of being requested. Existing guidelines for the UK recommend referral to gynaecologist to exclude endometrial cancer.

Where women are treated

The Improving Outcomes document recommended treatment of endometrial cancer grade 1/ grade 2, FIGO Ia in diagnostic centres (cancer units) and of endometrial cancers FIGO Ib or above or grade 3 of any stage will be treated in a cancer centre (33). The SMDT is now central to planning cancer care in the UK and the 2013/14 NHS Standard Contract for Cancer: Gynaecological (Section B Part 1 - Service Specifications) states that "it is essential that all patients with a suspected gynaecological tumour are discussed at an expert multi-disciplinary team". The SMDT provides the opportunity for peer review of pathology, radiology and clinical decision making, providing quality assurance and support to treating clinicians.

After treatment

Supportive care and follow up are described in other sections. End of treatment summaries should be provided after each episode of treatment and after discharge from secondary care. Summaries should state the diagnosis, stage, grade and treatment received. They should also inform women

what to look out for and critically who to contact if they experience problems that suggest recurrence or side effects or complications of treatment that negatively affect their quality of life.

Rapid access to palliative care will be of high importance to avoid unnecessary suffering and distress. Local services must ensure that mechanisms are in place such that these women can access palliative care without delay.

Failsafe

Failsafe mechanisms are required to ensure that women needing investigation and treatment negotiate the healthcare system reliably. These mechanisms should encompass all steps along the diagnostic and treatment pathway including appointments and admissions.

Providers should have in place failsafe mechanisms to ensure that women with thickened endometrium undergo proper assessment (biopsy or hysteroscopy) and that all biopsies demonstrating malignancy or atypical hyperplasia are assessed and treated appropriately.

A clear failsafe mechanism for reinvestigation of recurrent postmenopausal bleeding is required in both primary and secondary care to ensure that women understand that they should re-present to their primary care team, despite being discharged with reassuring investigations, if they experience continued bleeding.

5. Investigations - Imaging and pre-operative work-up

Women with endometrial cancer who require elective surgery in the NHS should have access to a holistic assessment with a nurse specialist or key worker. (Grade D)

Qualitative surveys suggest that nurses save money (34), increase service efficiency (35) and patient satisfaction with their cancer journey (36). Expert opinion and current UK service provision mandate that all women in the NHS with a new diagnosis of endometrial cancer should have access to a nurse specialist as part of surgical preparation.

Some form of pre-operative surgical assessment is needed to assess the appropriateness and route of surgery. (Grade D)

Clinical assessment is needed to determine the feasibility and route of surgery. Assessment of the uterine size and extent of tumour will help the surgeon assess the safely of total vaginal, laparoscopic or open surgery and the appropriateness of surgery.

CA125 estimation occasionally may direct investigations toward detecting unexpected metastatic disease. (Grade D)

CA125 is often raised non-specifically in the presence of bulky metastatic disease. Its place has not been tested in any randomised trial but there are rare case reports where it has changed practice. However, the yield is so small, especially if the history, chest X-Ray, pelvic ultrasound and clinical examination suggest the risk is so low that it cannot be recommended as part of mandatory routine practice.

Imaging

Chest radiology, either CT or plain X-ray is part of staging and should be performed in all women with endometrial cancer. (Grade D)

Imaging of the chest and pelvis should be performed pre-operatively to aid decisions on site of surgery and whether surgery is appropriate. Imaging of the chest can be with a chest X-ray and may spare women with chest metastasis from undergoing unnecessary surgery.

Women with high risk histology types (for example grade 3 endometrioid endometrial cancer, uterine serous cancer, clear cell cancer) should be recommended to be undergo further imaging by abdomino-pelvic MRI or CT scan. MRI is optional in women with low risk histology types. (Grade D)

All women with a high risk of potential metastases should have a CT of the chest abdomen and pelvis preoperatively to help plan surgery or potentially avoid upfront surgery if metastatic disease is found. The yield from CT scanning in low risk disease is very small, is very unlikely to alter the ultimate outcome and is not mandatory. (Grade D)

Patients with unexpected high risk findings in definitive histology (post-operatively) will require CT chest, abdomen and pelvis to plan appropriate adjuvant radiotherapy or chemotherapy. (Grade D)

See appendix for FIGO staging and stratification of endometrial cancer by risk categories. A review of 702 women with primary endometrial carcinoma, showed that pre-operative CT findings altered treatment plans in only six patients (37). The risk of metastatic disease for women with a short history, reassuring ultrasound, normal chest X-ray and grade 1 or 2 carcinomas is low (38). In contrast, clear cell, serous papillary and solid poorly differentiated cancers have a significant risk of metastatic disease. In these cases, a staging CT scan of abdomen, chest and pelvis may inform discussions about pelvic lymphadenectomy and occasionally avoid a hysterectomy when there is no prospect of cure. In other cases, an imaging finding may direct the surgery to explore a lymph node other suspected secondary deposits or with the option of lymph node mapping to plan postoperative radiotherapy or triage to chemotherapy. MRI can provide useful information on depth of myometrial infiltration, which can be used to triage patients into surgery at cancer units or centres.

MRI of the pelvis is useful to identify lymph node metastases and may be useful to stratify patients into pathways of care. (Grade B)

A systematic review of 18 studies (693 women) with endometrial cancer found that MRI is the most accurate tool to determine the lymph node status of patients (39). MRI scanning should be performed to set protocols of imaging and should ideally be interpreted by radiologists with expertise in gynaecological cancer.

PET is not recommended for routine preoperative staging in the NHS outside a clinical trial. (Grade D)

There is no reliable data to support the routine use of preoperative PET staging in endometrial cancer.

6. Pathology of uterine cancer

Uterine cancer is broadly classified into endometrioid and non-endometrioid histological types. A further classification based on FIGO staging and prognosis is detailed in the appendix. These guidelines are based on the RCPath guidelines for reporting endometrial carcinomas. The diagnosis and management of endometrial carcinoma is based on robust pathological input. Correct typing and grading of endometrial carcinomas determine the type of surgical management. After

hysterectomy, certain features of endometrial carcinoma, such as the type and grade of carcinoma, the presence of cervical involvement, depth of myometrial invasion, serosal breach and lymph node involvement will determine whether adjuvant therapy will be administered and the choice of adjuvant therapy. In addition, accurate typing of endometrial cancers will allow epidemiological information to be collected with regard to cancer subtypes and their association with genetic syndromes. This is now mandatory for enrolment of patients into trials. Use of a structured pathology reporting with a data set in the report allows easy extraction of the necessary information (40).

Clinical information required on the specimen request form

Provision of accurate clinical details assists diagnosis of pathology in biopsy and hysterectomy specimens. Clinical details should include patient demographic details, clinical presentation, results of previous biopsies and radiological investigations for tumour staging, and details of the surgical procedure especially the type of hysterectomy performed. It is desirable to include details of any family history of cancer and relevant hormonal therapy. The nature of surgical specimens from multiple sites should be carefully recorded and the specimen pots should be labelled to correspond to the specimen details on the request form and appropriately labelled as to site of origin.

Reporting of small biopsy specimens

Most endometrial carcinomas are diagnosed on biopsies that are obtained by either an outpatient sampling procedure or endometrial curettage under anaesthesia. In some cases, formal curettage may be required to obtain sufficient tissue for tumour diagnosis, typing and grading. When handling endometrial biopsy specimens, all of the submitted tissue should be processed. Where the biopsy confirms malignancy, the report should clearly specify the subtype of tumour present and the FIGO grade. It is recognised that there may be disparity in tumour grade between the endometrial biopsy and the subsequent hysterectomy specimen but correlation for tumour type is good. Unequivocal distinction between atypical hyperplasia and grade 1 endometrioid adenocarcinoma can be difficult on small biopsies. In a significant proportion of cases diagnosed as atypical hyperplasia on endometrial biopsy, the resected uterus contains endometrioid adenocarcinoma (41). Patients with a diagnosis of atypical endometrial hyperplasia may benefit from discussion at the gynaecological oncology SMDT and their management should be based on the results of clinical, pathological and imaging findings.

Reporting of frozen sections

In most institutions in the UK, intra-operative frozen sections are rarely performed in patients with endometrial carcinoma. Frozen sections may be performed occasionally to confirm endometrial carcinoma when there is no preoperative diagnosis, determine the nature of unexpected and clinically suspicious extra-uterine lesions at surgery for endometrial carcinoma, evaluate depth of myometrial invasion and look for metastasis in suspicious lymph nodes. It is important that clinicians who request frozen sections are cautioned about the potential limitations of the technique.

Testing for mismatch repair proteins

Lynch syndrome occurs due to a germline mutation in one of a family of DNA MMR genes, with subsequent loss of associated protein expression. Mutation of MLH1 or MSH2 genes is most common, but other important MMR genes include MSH6 and PMS2. Lynch syndrome is one of the most common cancer susceptibility syndromes. Individuals with Lynch syndrome have a 50%-70% lifetime risk of colorectal cancer, 40%-60% risk of endometrial cancer, 10% risk of ovarian cancer and increased risks of several other malignancies. For Lynch syndrome, ancillary tests of

immunohistochemistry for mismatch repair proteins (MMR) and PCR-based microsatellite instability (MSI) analysis are emerging as key components of the clinical evaluation of this syndrome. Routine testing for mismatch repair proteins may need to be incorporated into standard care in the UK NHS in the near future.

7. Endometrial cancer –surgery at presentation

Early disease (FIGO Stage I and II)

Surgery may be limited to hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy in those patients with grade 1 or 2 endometrioid adenocarcinoma which appears confined to the uterus. However, there will be a proportion of women who may require further surgery or adjuvant treatment using this approach due to underestimation of histological grade on pre-operative biopsy or the presence of other risk factors on final histological examination. (Grade D)

Lymphadenectomy in this instance does not improve survival or reduce the risk of disease recurrence. There is no evidence to support routine lymphadenectomy in low risk endometrial cancers. (Grade A)

A recent Cochrane review (42) identified two large RCTs randomising women with pre-operative clinical stage I endometrial cancer to either pelvic lymphadenectomy or palpation and removal of enlarged nodes at the surgeons' discretion. This included the multinational ASTEC study by Kitchener et al. (43), which enrolled women with disease of all histological types and the smaller trial by Benedetti-Panici et al. (44) which included only those with at least stage Ib or high grade endometrioid or adenosquamous carcinoma. The latter study compared outcomes following systematic pelvic lymphadenectomy of at least 20 lymph nodes to removal of enlarged nodes only. The meta-analysis, based on the results of 1,851 participants, showed no statistically significant difference in the risk of death (HR=1.07, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.43) or disease recurrence (HR=1.23, 95% CI 0.96 to 1.58) in women undergoing lymphadenectomy compared to those who had not, after adjusting for age and tumour grade. Indeed, women who had lymphadenectomy performed were more likely to suffer from surgically related systemic morbidity, namely lymphoedema and lymphocysts (RR 8.39, 95% CI 4.06 to 17.33).

The concordance between pre and post-operative histology has been variably quoted at 52-96% in prospective and retrospective studies (45,46). A Canadian group found only moderate concordance between pre and post-surgical histology and this was affected by grade of endometrial cancer with grade 1 tumours having 73% concordance compared with 52% and 53% in grade 2 and 3 disease (46). The incidence of pelvic lymph node metastases increases with grade of tumour and degree of myometrial invasion (47). Of women with grade 3 and clinical stage I disease with outer myometrial invasion, 28% were subsequently found to have lymph node involvement. Accurate prediction of myometrial invasion and grade of histology are, therefore, required pre-operatively to ensure that patients receive appropriate surgical treatment.

There are no randomised controlled trials comparing pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy with either pelvic lymphadenectomy alone or no lymphadenectomy.

Sentinel lymph node biopsy appears to have good diagnostic performance, is likely to provide a useful balance between achieving adequate staging whilst minimising morbidity and may be a useful service development for centres to undertake. Currently more evidence is required to support its inclusion in routine clinical practice. (Grade B)

A multicentre observational study carried out by Ballester et al. in nine French centres reported a sensitivity of 84% (95% CI 62-95%) and negative predictive value of 97% (95% CI 91-99%) for the

detection of lymph node metastases using sentinel lymph node biopsy in women with presumed stage I-II endometrial cancer of differing histological types. Indeed 11% of low risk and 15% of intermediate risk endometrial cancers were associated with positive lymph node metastases that would otherwise not have been detected if lymphadenectomy had not been performed (see appendix iii, stratification of endometrial cancer risk of recurrence). As 50% of high risk endometrial cancers (type I endometrial cancer, grade 3 stage Ib and type II tumours) had metastases, sentinel lymph node biopsy could not be recommended routinely in this group (48). A meta-analysis performed by Kang et al. prior to the publication of the French study reported a similar sensitivity 93% (95% CI 87-100%) but noted that the included studies were small in number and had significant heterogeneity (49). The impact of sentinel lymph node biopsy on adjuvant treatment use, overall and disease free survival has yet to be determined, limiting its clinical applicability.

Surgery should be minimal access, wherever possible, as it is associated with a lower rate of severe post-operative morbidity and shorter hospital stays compared with laparotomy. It is, therefore, a more cost effective approach. (Grade A)

Laparoscopic surgery is not associated with a significant adverse impact on disease recurrence and overall survival. (Grade A)

A Cochrane review identified eight RCTs which evaluated the role of total laparoscopic hysterectomy (TLH) or laparoscopic assisted vaginal hysterectomy (LAVH) in 3,644 women with early stage disease compared to conventional total abdominal hysterectomy. Details of specific adverse events were lacking but there appeared to be a reduction in severe post-operative complications in the laparoscopy arm (RR 0.58, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.91) and an average shorter hospital stay (50).

The meta-analysis of available data showed no difference in overall survival or the risk of disease recurrence between the two groups (HR 1.14, 95% CI 0.62-2.10, HR 1.13, 95% CI 0.9-1.42, respectively). However, the authors were unable to include outcome data from the largest GOG trial LAP 2 as it had yet to be published (51). This latter study did not confirm non-inferiority of laparoscopic surgery in comparison to laparotomy with recurrence rates at three years of 11.4% in the laparoscopy arm compared to 10.2% in the open surgery group (HR for laparoscopy 1.14, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.46). This should be interpreted in the light of a recurrence rate that was lower than anticipated and that recurrence and survival were not included as end points in the original study design leading to almost a quarter of participants being lost to follow-up. This trial does not, however, exclude the possibility that laparoscopic surgery may be associated with a small increase in recurrence. Nevertheless, NICE have not revised their original guidance and have continued to endorse the use of TLH and LAVH for the treatment of early stage endometrial cancer (52).

Robotic surgery appears to be non-inferior to laparoscopy for the treatment of endometrial cancer, but has a higher cost association. (Grade C)

There are no RCTs comparing robotic assisted surgery for gynaecological cancer with open or laparoscopic surgery. The limited data available supports the non-inferiority of robotic surgery compared with laparoscopy for the management of endometrial cancer in terms of both short term morbidity (intra-operative complications 4% vs. 3%, p=0.18; surgical site complications 1.8% vs. 2.9%, p=0.08) and survival (53,54). The use of a robot, even in large centres, was associated with an additional cost of \$818 per case (53). Longer term survival and recurrence data would be needed to establish the role of robotic surgery in this area, though these data are likely to be difficult to obtain in randomised studies.

A study comparing outcomes for obese and morbidly obese women undergoing total robotic hysterectomy with a retrospective cohort who underwent laparoscopic hysterectomy demonstrated a significantly shorter operating time (189 mins vs. 215 mins, p=0.0004), estimated blood loss (50mls

vs. 150mls, p<0.0001), mean hospital stay (1.02 days vs. 1.27 days, p=0.0119) and fewer operative complications (6.5% vs. 17.3%) (55). There was no difference in conversion rate to laparotomy between the two groups. Whilst these data are based on fewer than 50 women in each group it suggests that robotic surgery may have a role to play in the treatment of endometrial cancer in obese women.

A Cochrane review reported limited evidence on the effectiveness and safety of robotic surgery compared with conventional laparoscopic surgery or open surgery for surgical procedures performed for gynaecological cancer (56).

Radical hysterectomy is an alternative to simple hysterectomy and adjuvant radiotherapy for patients with overt stage II disease. Radicality should be limited to provide clear tumour margins from surgery. (Grade B)

There are no randomised data comparing radical hysterectomy with simple hysterectomy for the treatment of stage II disease but the results of several small series (57-60) support data from three large retrospective studies (61-63) which suggest that patients with stage II disease appear to have similar survival with either simple hysterectomy and adjuvant radiotherapy or radical hysterectomy alone. Patients treated with simple hysterectomy and no adjuvant treatment, however, have a poorer prognosis than those treated with simple hysterectomy and adjuvant radiotherapy or radical hysterectomy alone. Operative complications appear to be similar between the two groups, however, longer term morbidity data in relation to the addition of radiotherapy treatment in those undergoing simple hysterectomy was not documented (64).

Surgical staging, including pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy and omental biopsy, may be appropriate for women with high grade disease and non-endometrioid endometrial cancers. (Grade C)

These patients should be operated on in a cancer centre. (Grade D)

Minimal access surgery can be used for these patients. (Grade A)

Recruitment of patients with high grade disease and non-endometrioid endometrial cancers into trials investigating lymphadenectomy and/or sentinel node surgery is strongly recommended. (Grade C)

There are limited data available on the management of non-endometrioid endometrial cancers due to their relative rarity. Non-endometrioid tumours were included in the ASTEC randomised trial by Kitchener et al. and there was no demonstrable benefit to the addition of lymphadenectomy in these cases. Numbers were small, with type II cancers comprising less than 10% of the study population. Lymphadenectomy was also limited to pelvic node dissection rather than pelvic and para aortic node dissection. For these reasons lymphadenectomy continues to be practiced by many. Work is now required to establish patterns of lymph node involvement in these tumours, the accuracy of sentinel node assessment and whether lymphadenectomy can be used to direct adjuvant therapy by allowing the omission of adjuvant treatment in women who are node negative. Wherever possible, patients with non-endometrioid tumours should be recruited to ongoing clinical trials.

Late Disease (FIGO Stage III and IV)

Complete surgical resection of all visible disease in advanced endometrial cancer may be considered in selected patients who are fit to undergo surgery as limited evidence shows this may prolong survival. (Grade C)

A meta-analysis performed by Barlin et al. included 14 small retrospective non-randomised analyses evaluating the role of surgery in the setting of advanced and recurrent endometrial cancer (65). A range of histological subtypes, adjuvant treatments and definitions of 'optimal' surgical treatment were included in the analysis. The limited number of studies available made multivariate analysis impossible. For each 10% increase in the proportion of patients undergoing complete surgical resection of the disease there was an associated 9.3-month increase in survival (p=0.04). Increasing the proportion of women having 'optimal' (variably defined) surgical resection was associated with a prolongation in survival that did not reach statistical significance (change in median survival 16 months, p=0.05). Complete surgical resection was possible in 18-75% of cases. Similarly, Eto et al. demonstrated a 15-month increase in overall survival when complete resection of intra-abdominal metastases was performed in patients with stage IVb endometrial cancer (median overall survival 48 months complete resection vs. 23 months 'optimal' resection vs. 14 months 'suboptimal' resection) (66). The presence of intra-abdominal residual disease remained an independent prognostic factor.

Systematic lymphadenectomy should be performed in preference to palpation and removal of clinically enlarged nodes only. (Grade B)

The removal of clinically abnormal lymph nodes alone is known to be an inaccurate means of staging endometrial cancer. Benedetti-Panici et al. demonstrated a four-fold increase in the rate of detection of lymph node metastases when systematic lymphadenectomy was performed in comparison to the removal of enlarged nodes only (44).

Complete resection of macroscopic nodal disease may be associated with an improvement disease specific survival but data are at high risk of bias. (Grade C)

A retrospective observational study of 41 patients with Stage IIIc endometrial cancer found a significantly longer disease specific survival time in those patients with complete resection of macroscopic nodal disease compared with those with residual gross disease (37.5 months vs. 8 months, p=0.006) (67). The presence of gross residual nodal disease was an independent prognostic factor of survival on multivariate analysis. This result was replicated by Havrilesky et al. who demonstrated that failure to debulk gross lymph node metastases was associated with a 6.8-fold worsening of disease specific survival at five years (68).

Surgery may be appropriate for patients with advanced disease at presentation who have responded to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. (Grade D)

The use of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in the context of treating advanced endometrial cancer has not been formally assessed in randomised controlled trials and is addressed separately (see chapter 9).

Debulking palliative surgery has a role in providing symptom relief. (Grade C)

There is limited evidence regarding the role of palliative surgery in endometrial cancer. Hysterectomy can be used in this setting for the control of distressing symptoms such as bleeding, pain and malodorous discharge. A retrospective analysis of 13 patients with gynaecological tumours undergoing palliative exenteration suggested an improvement in quality of life following the procedure; however, the numbers included are too small to draw any generalised conclusions (69). Decisions regarding the role of surgery in this setting should be made on an individual basis taking into consideration patient wishes and symptoms within the MDT setting. A national register of patients undergoing neaoadjuvant chemotherapy for endometrial cancer is an aspiration.

8. Adjuvant treatment of endometrioid endometrial cancer

This section provides evidence-based information on the adjuvant options after hysterectomy for endometrioid endometrial cancer. In this setting, it describes non-medical therapy, hormonal therapy, radiotherapy, chemotherapy and concomitant chemoradiotherapy after a hysterectomy for early (stage I or II) uterine adenocarcinoma and may also have relevance in stage III but completely resected disease. The purpose is to improve the chance of cure, prolong life or change the pattern of recurrent disease.

High-dose progesterone must always be avoided. (Grade A)

Routine use of adjuvant progesterone is not recommended as it may cause side effects, may increase the risk of death from cardiovascular disease and there is no evidence that routine use will affect the outcome. (Grade A)

There is no role for adjuvant progesterone in early stage endometrial cancer outside of a clinical trial. (Grade A)

Progesterone therapy

Seven randomised trials (70-76) involving 4,556 women showed that the routine use of hormone therapy after hysterectomy does not improve cure rates, recurrence rates or the pattern of recurrent disease (77). Progesterone in hormone replacement therapy has been shown to increase the risk of death, myocardial infarction, stroke, thrombosis, breast cancer (78) and other data suggests it may affect mood adversely and increase water retention. This is consistent with other established knowledge about progesterone biology and physiology. Furthermore, even in advanced cancer, data from six randomised trials (79) involving 542 women found that hormonal treatment does not improve survival.

For low risk endometrioid endometrial cancer, there is no improvement in survival and additional harm and mortality from routine adjuvant radiotherapy and it is not recommended. (Grade A)

For intermediate risk endometrial cancer, in the absence of risk factors such as lymphovascular invasion (LVSI), external beam radiotherapy has no overall survival benefit over vaginal brachytherapy. External beam radiation reduces the risk of local relapse but has a negative impact on quality of life in patients. Patients with intermediate risk endometrioid endometrial cancer must therefore make fully informed decisions about adjuvant radiotherapy in this setting. (Grade A)

For high risk endometrioid endometrial cancer, expert opinion and observational studies support the use of adjuvant pelvic external beam radiotherapy, pending the results from randomised controlled trials. This is because of the possibility of a survival advantage and the proven reduction of risk from suffering pelvic recurrence. Women have to balance these advantages against the long term reduction in quality of life caused by pelvic radiotherapy. (Grade A)

In patients with high risk endometrial cancer who have undergone lymphadenectomy, there is no role for adjuvant radiotherapy in patients with proven node negative status. (Grade C) (see appendix iii for risk stratification in endometrial cancer)

External beam radiotherapy

Level 1a evidence from meta-analysis of seven randomised trials involving 3,628 women shows that radiotherapy does not improve overall survival rates nor survival duration significantly (80,81).

Adjuvant radiotherapy delays the onset of recurrence in the pelvis and alters the pattern of recurrence to that of distant metastases (82). Five randomised trials show no survival advantage from radiotherapy and there is evidence of harm (83-90). However, a meta-analysis found a significant benefit of about 10% improved OS for external beam radiotherapy with FIGO lb, grade 3 tumours (91). Randomised trials restricted to low risk cancers show a significantly higher death rate in women allocated radiotherapy. Only the GOG99 (92) and a small unpublished preliminary abstract report (but probably still reliable) (93) support external beam pelvic radiotherapy. These trials examined high risk stage I cancer but even this combined data of 334 women has a non-significant improved hazard ratio HR 0.91 (0.60 to 1.39) for overall survival duration. The suggestion that there may be a survival advantage was refuted by a subgroup analysis of the ASTEC data.

Some centres use pelvic and para-aortic lymph node histology to triage patients for adjuvant external beam radiotherapy. However, there is no evidence that delivering external beam radiotherapy after lymph node dissection will add anything to pelvic disease control. Isolated pelvic recurrence can be salvaged in the majority of women with radiotherapy (94) or chemoradiotherapy. In PORTEC-1 the majority of the locoregional relapses were located in the vagina, mainly in the vaginal vault. Of the 714 women who were evaluated, 39 had isolated vaginal relapse, 35 (87%) were treated with curative intent, usually with external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) and vaginal brachytherapy (VBT), and surgery in some. A complete remission was obtained in 31 of the 35 (89%), and 24 (77%) were still in complete remission after further follow-up. Five subsequently developed distant metastases, and two had a second vaginal recurrence. The three-year survival after vaginal relapse was 73%. At five years, the survival after vaginal relapse was 65% making an observation programme an attractive alternative to a policy of routine radiotherapy.

Long term follow-up of women in the PORTEC 2 trial (87) shows that late toxicity from EBRT compared with VBT is highly significant. Women who received EBRT had significantly higher rates of urinary incontinence, diarrhoea, and faecal leakage that limited their daily activities. The clinical significance is illustrated by use of incontinence products by women more than 10 years after radiotherapy compared with no additional treatment (day and night use, 42.9% versus 15.2% respectively). Random allocation to radiotherapy was associated with lower SF-36 quality of life scores on the scales "physical functioning" (P = 0.004), "role-physical" (P=0.003) and "bodily pain" (P = 0.009).

Modern radiation techniques with intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) or volumetric modulated arc radiotherapy (VMAT) are expected to lead to a significant reduction in late toxicity.

The greatest benefit from adjuvant radiotherapy is linked to a reduced risk of local recurrence. It follows that radiotherapy for stage II endometrial cancer might have a greater role than in stage I cancer. However, there are no randomised trials to guide us and observational studies do not support radiotherapy. For example, the SEER database (61) suggests that the five-year cumulative survival rate for women with stage II uterine corpus adenocarcinoma who received surgery alone as primary therapy was 84.4% with simple hysterectomy and 93.0% with radical hysterectomy (P<0.05). Survival after radiation and surgery was 82.9% with simple hysterectomy and 88.0% with radical hysterectomy (P<0.05) implying no significant survival difference for radiation versus no radiation in either surgical group. Observational studies have limited value as women selected for more aggressive therapy will have less co-morbidities and a greater expected survival. Nevertheless, other observational studies also fail to support radiotherapy for uterine cancer extending to the cervix (95).

Vaginal brachytherapy can reduce the small risk of vaginal vault recurrence after surgery for endometrial cancer. However, women have to understand that vaginal brachytherapy does not confer a survival advantage. (Grade A)

Brachytherapy (vaginal vault radiotherapy)

Adjuvant treatment will only avoid a small number of women having to undergo more radical therapy should they suffer an isolated vault relapse. Only one randomised trial (96) has compared brachytherapy with no additional treatment and this was confined to low-risk women. There was no survival advantage from VBT but there is a non-significant reduction in loco-regional recurrence in the VBT group (RR 0.39, 95% CI 0.14 to 1.09). Observational studies and expert opinion support this reduction. Survival is not affected because isolated tumours that only recur in the vaginal vault with no distant metastases can be salvaged (94).

The above sections are condensed below and provide guidance in adequately staged patients with early stage endometrioid endometrial cancer (modified from ESGO guidelines²).

Low risk	FIGO grade 1, Stage Ia, Ib, no	No adjuvant treatment	
	LVSI		
	FIGO grade 2, Stage Ia, no LVSI		
Intermediate risk	FIGO grade 2, Stage Ib, no LVSI	Vaginal brachytherapy	
	FIGO grade 3, Stage Ia, no LVSI		
High-intermediate risk	FIGO grade 3, Stage 1a,	Consider external beam	
	regardless of LVSI	radiation versus vaginal	
	FIGO grade 1, grade 2, LVSI	brachytherapy if nodal status	
	unequivocally positive,	unknown. Consider adjuvant	
	regardless of depth of invasion	brachytherapy versus no	
		adjuvant therapy if node	
		negative	
High risk	FIGO grade 3, Stage Ib	Consider external beam	
		radiation versus vaginal	
		brachytherapy. Consider	
		adjuvant chemotherapy.	

For late stage disease

Recent ASCO/ASTRO guidelines for endometrial cancer have been published (97). ASTRO recommends radiation therapy without chemotherapy for patients with positive nodes or involved uterine serosa, ovaries/fallopian tubes, vagina, bladder or rectum, ASCO also recommends the use of chemotherapy. ASTRO endorsed concurrent chemoradiation followed by adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with positive nodes. ASCO noted that this recommendation is based on expert opinion and limited data, clinical trials are underway to provide more insight in this area.

Chemotherapy

Postoperative platinum-based chemotherapy is associated with a small benefit in progression-free survival and overall survival irrespective of radiotherapy treatment. It can be recommended as an option for well-informed women with high risk endometrioid adenocarcinoma and minimal comorbidities but they should be realistic in accepting the toxicity and small potential survival advantage. (Grade B)

There are nine randomised trials (98-105) examining the role of adjuvant chemotherapy for high risk, high grade endometrial carcinomas; however all have serious limitations, used drugs that are either no longer viewed as first choice, or with suboptimal doses and dose intensity. Five randomised trials compared no additional treatment with additional chemotherapy after hysterectomy and radiotherapy and four compared platinum based combination chemotherapy directly with radiotherapy. Indiscriminate pooling of survival data from 2,197 women shows a small but statistically significant overall survival advantage from adjuvant chemotherapy (106) (RR 0.88 (95% CI 0.79 to 0.99)). Sensitivity analysis focused on trials of modern platinum based chemotherapy regimens and found the relative risk of death to be 0.85 (95% CI 0.76 to 0.96); number needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNT) was 25 and an absolute risk reduction of 4% (1% to 8%)). The HR for overall survival was 0.74 (0.64 to 0.89), significantly favouring the addition of postoperative platinum-based chemotherapy. The HR for progression-free survival was 0.75 (0.64 to 0.89). This means that chemotherapy reduces the risk of being dead at any censorship by a quarter. Chemotherapy reduces the risk of developing the first recurrence outside the pelvis (RR = 0.79 (0.68 to 0.92), 5% absolute risk reduction; NNT was 20). The analysis of pelvic recurrence rates was underpowered but the trend suggests that chemotherapy may be less effective than radiotherapy in a direct comparison (RR 1.28 (0.97 to 1.68)) but it may have added value when used with radiotherapy (RR 0.48 (0.20 to 1.18)).

Despite the statistics quoted, the precise survival advantage is difficult to quantify because the studies are heterogeneous. Clearly a 4% survival advantage to someone over the age of 70 is relatively trivial compared to the toxicity of additional treatment. Nevertheless, it remains an option for younger women with minimal co-morbidities. Many of the trials use doxorubicin and a platinum agent. There is no evidence in the adjuvant setting that that one regime is better than another. One popular and reasonable modern trend is to use the untested regimen of carboplatin combined with paclitaxel (four doses).

Chemotherapy contrasts with radiotherapy. The immediate toxicities are different and depend on the chemotherapy regime used. As no particular regime has any obvious advantage, the therapy can be tailored to the individual's preference. The lack of significant long term toxicity is one advantage of chemotherapy over radiotherapy.

Concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy should be used only in the context of a clinical trial. (Grade D)

There is no randomised data to support the use of chemoradiation (giving chemotherapy together with radiation therapy). There are data from other tumour groups that chemoradiation is more toxic but more effective than radiotherapy alone. However, endometrioid cancer has relatively low recurrence rates and at the current time, chemoradiation is still experimental. PORTEC-3 evaluates this and results are awaited with interest.

9. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in endometrial cancer

For more advanced cases where there is evidence of extra-uterine spread or significant lymph node metastases at time of primary diagnosis, there is a considerable controversy about the optimal management and in some centres primary surgery is offered. Despierre et al. in 2006 first reported the use of neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) in uterine cancer (107).

NACT and delayed primary surgery may be an alternative approach in the treatment of selected patients with advanced endometrial cancer who are considered poor candidates for upfront surgery. Generally, NACT would be reserved for patients where it would be expected that primary

debulking surgery would not achieve complete macroscopic resection. Recruitment into trials investigating this approach is strongly recommended. (Grade D)

NACT may be considered in selected cases with evidence of disease breaching through the serosa and where there is evidence of significant pelvic and para-aortic nodal spread after careful discussion at the SMDT. Evidence for NACT is limited to a small number of case reports and case series who were not candidates for primary debulking surgery. With this approach, Despierre reported in a series of 24 patients that 22 (92%) had complete cytoreduction (no residual tumour), and two (8%) had optimal cytoreduction (107).

In uterine corpus cancer, there has been increasing adoption of the use of NACT in selected cases but to date there have been no randomised clinical trials which have substantiated its place. Nevertheless, it is reasonable for individual cases to be discussed at the SMDT to determine whether neoadjuvant chemotherapy may be considered.

The choice of chemotherapy will usually be carboplatin and paclitaxel. The optimal chemotherapy schedule of carboplatin and paclitaxel (CP) is derived from the similar responses of endometrial cancer to epithelial ovarian cancer. (Grade D)

This is clearly superior to cisplatin and doxorubicin in terms of its reduced toxicity and deliverability. It is debatable whether there would be justification to carry out a clinical trial of these regimes.

10. Management of unfit patients with endometrial cancer.

Women who are unfit for standard treatment for endometrial endometrioid disease (i.e. hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy under general anaesthesia) either due to morbid obesity or intercurrent medical conditions may be considered for vaginal hysterectomy, definitive pelvic radiotherapy or conservative management with progestogens/aromatase inhibitors. The choice of treatment will be influenced by patient characteristics and local preferences. (Grade D)

Vaginal hysterectomy is likely to offer good palliation in women with non-endometrioid cancer who are less likely to respond to alternative management such as progestogens. (Grade D)

Vaginal Hysterectomy

Women who are unfit for standard treatment may undergo simple vaginal hysterectomy, with removal of ovaries where possible under regional analgesia. This might be curative for the majority of stage I disease (108) or might act as palliation for symptoms. A pre-operative MRI or CT scan will determine if there is any bulky lymphadenopathy or metastatic disease present. For some patients, regional anaesthesia will be equally problematic and if surgery under any form of analgesia is contraindicated, then the choices are either radiotherapy or progestogen therapy in women with endometrioid disease. Patients with extreme co-morbidities might not be suitable for intracavitary treatment as this requires either general or regional anaesthesia to correctly position the radiotherapy sources.

Radiotherapy

Endometrial cancer is radiosensitive and radiotherapy may be used as a sole treatment modality. Although there have been no direct comparisons of primary radiotherapy with surgery in women with local disease and significant co-morbidities, early case series suggest that primary radiotherapy has inferior survival rates compared to hysterectomy, with the risk of intrauterine recurrence.

Radiotherapy as primary treatment of endometrial cancer is only considered in exceptional cases, recurrence rates of up to 18% have been reported in these patients in a recent retrospective study (109).

Radiotherapy is administered either as a combination of EBRT and VBT or VBT alone (109). The justification for using EBRT is that some patients have occult pelvic sidewall disease particularly with high grade tumours and its inclusion might improve outcomes. The inclusion of EBRT might be considered over-treatment in early stage low grade disease and reports suggest a 5-20% rate of late radiation toxicity when combining external beam and intracavitary radiotherapy (110). However, if imaging suggests more advanced stage uterine tumours this combined approach might be justifiable.

External beam radiotherapy of the pelvis in obese patients is also complicated by anatomical changes in these patients. The target organ may shift resulting in a reduced dose that is delivered to it. Higher failures with radiotherapy to pelvic cancers have been reported in prostate cancer for obese patients (111). Image guided planning and treatment may overcome some of these problems.

The majority of early publications report on low-dose-rate (LDR) brachytherapy which is no longer used in the UK, with later studies reporting on high-dose-rate (HDR) brachytherapy. HDR offers the benefit of shorter treatment times. These case series tend to include women who are unfit for surgery due to medical co-morbidities including significant obesity and the majority of published case series were conducted prior to computerised radio-planning. In these case reports, death rates due to intercurrent disease were high but reported disease specific five-year survival rates (109) were similar to surgical cure rates.

Progestogens

There are no large case series reporting on the outcome of such medical management as a primary treatment and the long-term outcome of such management is unclear.

Most case series have relatively short duration of follow-up. Women with endometrioid endometrial cancer with morbid obesity and / or co-morbidities that prevent them having curative surgery or radiotherapy may be considered for progestogen therapy. The levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (IUS) has the advantage of good compliance and reduced side effects compared to oral progestogen therapy. However, the vast majority of published data are retrospective non randomised observational studies which have evaluated the response to oral progestogens, particularly in young women wishing to retain their reproductive function. There is limited robust evidence on regression and relapse rates in older women with endometrioid endometrial cancer treated by either IUS or oral progestogens. Similarly, there are no large case series reporting on the outcome of such medical management as a primary treatment and the long-term outcome of such management is unclear as most case series have a relatively short duration of follow-up.

Generally, the recommended oral progestogens are megestrol (160mg daily), or medroxyprogesterone acetate (200mg/ 400mg daily). However as stated above, a much lower dose is likely to be equally effective and in patients with a history of cardiac failure so being less problematic with respect to fluid retention. Aromatase inhibitors may be an alternative in such patients. The comparative efficacy of progestogens and aromatase inhibitors has never been investigated in a randomised controlled trial.

The Australian FEMME trial randomizes such patients to the IUS, IUS with weight loss or the IUS and metformin. Results of this trial are currently awaited.

11. Management of Women Wishing to Preserve their Fertility

Current evidence suggests that conservative management of endometrial cancer may be safe in the short term in selected women with grade 1 endometrial cancer and with superficial myometrial invasion. (Grade C)

Women with endometrial cancer desiring fertility should be counselled carefully about the current known response rates on progestogens and progression risk. (Grade D) SMDT should involve specialist gynae-pathology review, MRI imaging to exclude > 50% myometrial invasion, adnexal or nodal involvement, follow-up with regular endometrial sampling and individualised care in their management. (Grade D)

Less than 5% of endometrioid endometrial cancers occur in women under 45 years of age. Some of these women will not have had children and will want to preserve their reproductive potential. Present evidence suggests that progestogens can be a primary treatment for selected patients. These women will need to be carefully discussed within a multidisciplinary forum, ideally at centres with expertise in this approach. The initial diagnostic pathology will require expert peer review and ideally an MRI scan should be organised whatever the grade of disease. The SMDT will have to determine if imaging and pathological characteristics suggest that the disease is low grade and confined to the endometrium (or with only superficial myometrial invasion). Such patients will have a minimal risk of metastatic disease or local invasion and therefore a higher chance of regression or cure of disease with progestogens. Synchronous ovarian cancers have been reported in up to 25% of young women with uterine disease. Careful evaluation of ovarian cysts found on imaging need to be assessed by expert review and need to carefully managed.

The majority of published case series have only included grade 1 endometrioid endometrial disease. Patients with higher grades should be excluded. There are currently only three published studies that have evaluated the outcomes after IUS administration and in contrast over 30 studies have assessed outcomes after oral progestogens for six to 12-month duration for administration. Initial reports suggest similar outcomes with IUS with better compliance. Pooled outcomes from case series suggest a regression rate of 76%, a relapse rate of 26% and live birth rate of 26% (112).

Patients should be informed of the need for future hysterectomy in case of failure of the treatment and/or after pregnancies. Medroxyprogesterone acetate (400–600 mg/day) or megestrol (160–320 mg/day) are the recommended treatments (113,114). However, treatment with the IUS with or without gonadotropin releasing hormone analogues can also be considered.

Most authorities recommend regular endometrial biopsy in the first year and twice yearly subsequently. After successful pregnancy, particularly if predisposing factors persist such as obesity or diabetes, hysterectomy should be considered.

These women should be offered genetic counselling and investigation to exclude hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC). The Australian FEMME trial may address management of young women wishing to retain their fertility.

12. Non – endometrioid cancer: uterine serous carcinoma

Although uterine serous carcinoma (USC) comprises only 10% of the cases of endometrial cancer, it is highly aggressive and disproportionally accounts for 39% of all deaths from endometrial cancer. Clinically, USC behaves more like high grade serous ovarian cancer than the endometrial cancer with

high rates of extra-uterine and intra-abdominal disease spread (115,116). USC is associated with a high rate of recurrent disease and a high mortality rate at recurrence (117,118).

Accurate surgical staging including peritoneal cytology, hysterectomy, bilateral salpingooopherectomy, omental, peritoneal biopsies, is necessary to identify or exclude the presence of extrauterine disease and adequately define the FIGO stage. (Grade C)

In case of peritoneal tumor dissemination, optimal cytoreduction with maximal surgical effort to obtain minimal residual disease may confer survival benefit. (Grade C)

Systematic pelvic and para-aortic lymph node dissection may be appropriate. Recruitment into trials investigating lymphadenectomy and possible sentinel node surgery in this group is strongly recommended. (Grade C)

Although the depth of myometrial invasion or presence of lymphovascular invasion has been historically recognised as adverse prognostic features of endometrioid endometrial cancer, presence of metastatic disease in USC patients has been frequently reported even in the absence of the above features (119-124). High rates of extra-uterine disease spread have been reported in 37-63% of USC patients with no evidence of myometrial invasion (121,123,124). Surgical staging is therefore mandated and should include total hysterectomy, bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, peritoneal washings and cytology, retroperitoneal lymph node sampling and biopsy of any suspicious lesion (125).

Although two RCTs; ASTEC and Benedetti-Panici et al. have categorically demonstrated that lymphadenectomy does not improve survival in endometrial cancer, neither was powered to detect a survival difference in high risk poor prognosis histology types. There were 35 USC patients in the retrospective SEPAL study which investigated pelvic versus pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy in 671 women with intermediate or high risk endometrial cancer. There was an overall survival benefit in favour of pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy cohort (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.38–0.76; p=0.0005) (126).

Multiple studies have also demonstrated that optimal cytoreductive surgery in advanced metastatic USC is associated with improved recurrence free and overall survival (127-130).

For stage I surgically staged USC, vaginal brachytherapy (VBT) is recommended. Addition of external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) is not associated with reduction in the rate of distant disease spread and does not improve the recurrence free or overall survival. (Grade B)

There is no consensus on the use of adjuvant therapy in stage Ia surgically staged USC. However due to the high risk or recurrence and extra-uterine metastatic disease with early stage USC, adjuvant therapy either as wider field radiotherapy or systemic chemotherapy are increasingly administered.

Multiple retrospective small studies have investigated the association between abdominal and pelvic radiotherapy and the risk of recurrence (131-134). Lim et al. studied 43 clinical stage I USC cases treated with whole abdominal radiotherapy and pelvic boost and showed that 70% of recurrences occurred in the irradiated field (135). Also in a study by Huh et al., of 60 surgically staged stage I USC patients, 40% received no adjuvant therapy, 20% received adjuvant radiotherapy and 12% adjuvant chemotherapy. No difference in recurrence was seen between patients who had received adjuvant radiotherapy alone or no adjuvant therapy at all (133).

ASTEC and EN5 studies investigated the adjuvant external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) in patient with early stage endometrial cancer and pathological features suggestive of intermediate or high risk of recurrence and death (high risk defined as all papillary serous and clear cell subtypes, all other subtypes in Ic (grade 3) and IIa (grade 3), and all patients with stage IIb disease; pre 2009 FIGO

staging) (84). In this study 905 patients were assigned to adjuvant external beam radiotherapy (452) or observation (453). After 58 months of follow up, the risk of local recurrence was lower in the EBRT group (HR: 0.46 (95% CI, 0.24 to 0.89; p = 0.02). However, there was no difference in the rate of distant metastasis (8% in the observation group and 9% in the EBRT group), recurrence-free survival (HR: 0.93 (95% CI, 0.66 to 1.31; p = 0.68) or overall survival between the two groups (HR: 1.05 (95% CI, 0.75 to 1.48; p = 0.77). The rate of acute toxicities was higher in the radiotherapy group compared with the observation group (43% vs. 27% respectively).

A Cochrane review of eight randomized trials of adjuvant radiotherapy (EBRT, VBT or both) in early stage endometrial cancer did not show any improvement in survival of high risk stage I endometrial cancer who were treated with pelvic radiotherapy (80). The authors of the review concluded that in patients with stage I disease "For the intermediate to high-intermediate risk group, VBT alone appears to be adequate in ensuring vaginal control compared to EBRT".

There is no consensus on the use of adjuvant chemotherapy in stage Ia surgically staged USC. Patients with stage Ia USC with no residual disease in surgical specimen or USC confined to a polyp should be advised about the extremely low risk of recurrence. (Grade C)

Two randomised trials have shown no overall survival benefit from the addition of cisplatin and doxorubicin chemotherapy to external beam radiotherapy alone in surgically operated FIGO stage I-III endometrial cancer with no residual disease and poor prognostic factors. (Grade A)

Of note, however, there was no survival benefit in the subgroup of USC or clear cell cancer and the benefit of additional chemotherapy seemed to be confined to the endometrioid group alone (105).

Adjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy may be considered in stage Ib, and II–IV USC after patients have been adequately counselled about the evidence base for this and pending results from ongoing trials. (Grade B)

Two randomised studies have evaluated sequential adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy in endometrial cancer – the NSCGO/EORTC/MaNGO trials randomised 540 patients with operated endometrial cancer FIGO stage I-III with no residual tumour and prognostic factors implying high risk to adjuvant radiotherapy with or without sequential cisplatin plus doxorubicin. They found that addition of adjuvant chemotherapy to radiation improves progression-free survival but neither study showed significant differences in overall survival. In combined analysis, overall survival was not significant (HR 0.69, CI 0.46 to 1.03; p = 0.07) but cancer-specific survival was significant (HR 0.55, CI 0.35 to 0.88; p = 0.01). There was also a 36% reduction in the risk of relapse (HR: 0.64, 95% CI: 0.41 to 0.99, p = 0.04) in the patients treated with sequential chemotherapy and radiation (105). However, neither trial showed a benefit in the subgroup of uterine serous cancers. Due to the rarity of USC, there is lack of evidence from prospective randomised clinical trials to direct the decision making in treatment of early stage disease. Multiple retrospective studies have demonstrated the improved outcome of USC patients with early stage disease who were treated with platinum-based chemotherapy compared with those who had no adjuvant treatment or were treated by radiotherapy alone (131-134,136).

For late stage disease several studies have reported improvement in progression free survival of USC patient with adjuvant chemotherapy. Many of these studies included USC patients as part of advanced stage endometrial carcinoma. In a study of adjuvant cisplatin, adriamycin and cyclophosphamide in 62 patients with high-risk endometrial cancer (21% with UPSC or clear cell carcinoma), Burke et al reported three-year survival of 82% in patients with no extra-uterine disease. A phase III trial of cisplatin and adriamycin versus cisplatin, adriamycin and paclitaxel (TAP) in advanced stage endometrial cancer (GOG 177) showed an overall survival benefit in the cohort

treated with TAP chemotherapy. The GOG 209, a phase III study is currently investigating the chemotherapy with TAP vs paclitaxel/ carboplatin.

In a recent phase II pilot study patients with stage I–IV USC of pelvic radiotherapy 'sandwiched' between platinum/ taxane-based chemotherapy investigators demonstrated antitumor activity and a favourable toxicity profile for this approach but the majority of patients with advanced disease recurred during the three-year study period (137).

PORTEC-3 trial is currently investigating pelvic radiotherapy versus pelvic radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy followed by adjuvant chemotherapy.

NACT and interval debulking surgery (IDS) is an alternative approach in the treatment of patient with advanced stage USC who are considered poor candidates for upfront surgery. (Grade D)

Evidence for neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) in USC is limited to a small number of case reports and case series in selected cases who were not candidates for primary debulking surgery (107,138-140). In one study 30 patients with stage IV endometrial cancer (including 27 USC patients (90%)) were treated with three or four cycles of NACT followed by IDS (140). A total of 24 patients (80%) had optimal cytoreduction described as to less than one cm and six patients (20%) either had progressive disease during NACT or were inoperable after NACT. Both case reports achieved high rates of optimal cytoreduction. However, there is insufficient data to inform management of USC specifically.

Treatment of recurrent USC

There is no evidence base on the use of second line chemotherapy in recurrent USC. This is covered in greater detail in the section on management of relapsed cancer. Referral of patients into early phase clinical trials with newer targeted agents should be encouraged.

13. Non-endometrioid carcinoma: uterine clear cell carcinoma

Endometrial clear cell cancer (ECCC) is classified together with the serous-papillary subtype to type II endometrial cancers (EC). Even though type II cancers account for <15% of all ECs, they are mainly responsible for the EC-related mortality, since they are biologically more aggressive and usually associated with a poorer outcome than the most common type I cancers.

ECCC tend to show higher rates of myometrial and lymphovascular invasion, intraperitoneal and extraabdominal spread including the upper abdomen, explaining the higher stages of the disease at its initial presentation (141,142). At least from the standpoint of gene expression, they appear more similar to clear cell cancers arising in other organs (e.g. the kidney) than to other uterine cancers, including those of the papillary serous variety (143). For the definition of ECCC 25-50% clear cell features are required to classify a tumour as such. Interestingly, patients with pure clear cell cancers and mixed clear cell cancers with endometrioid components have the same survival as those whose clear cell cancers contain less histologically favourable components (144).

In a large series presented by Hamilton et al., (2006) the clinical course of more than 4,000 women was analysed according to the histologic subtype: 4,180 women with high risk EC subtypes reported to the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database between 1988 and 2001; 1,473 had a serous-papillary histology, 391 had clear cell, and 2,316 had grade three endometrioid ECs (145). ECCC patients had higher rates of stage III or IV disease than did grade 3 endometrioid ECs (36% versus 26%, respectively). For early stage disease, five-year survival for uterine serous papillary (USC), ECCC and grade three endometrial cancer were 74, 82, and 86%; *P*<0.0001) and stage III–IV disease (33, 40, and 54%;

P<0.0001). Moreover, although serous papillary, clear cell and grade 3 endometrioid tumours accounted for 10%, 3% and 15% of all endometrial cancers, they were responsible for 39%, 8%, and 27 % of all deaths, respectively. Retrospective data indicate that patients with ECCC confined to the uterus and without extension to the cervix present a better prognosis than those with a tumour of serous papillary histology and of equivalent stage (141,146).

Accurate surgical staging including peritoneal cytology, hysterectomy, bilateral salpingooophorectomy, omental, peritoneal biopsies is necessary to identify or exclude the presence of extrauterine disease and adequately define the FIGO stage. (Grade C)

In case of peritoneal tumor dissemination, optimal cytoreduction with maximal surgical effort to obtain minimal residual disease may confer survival benefit. (Grade C)

Optimal cytoreduction is an important component of surgical treatment with the amount of residual disease following surgery being the strongest predictor of overall survival in advanced disease, but high quality data are lacking (147-149). The best available evidence is a meta-analysis of 14 retrospective case series that included 10 studies of primary disease and four studies of recurrent disease, patients had both endometrioid and non-endometrioid histology types (65). A higher proportion of women with complete cytoreduction was found to be significantly associated with longer median survival. For women with primary disease, overall survival rates were related to: complete cytoreduction (30 to 51%) and optimal cytoreduction, defined in individual studies as ≤ 1 or ≤ 2 cm (15 to 51%); however, confidence limits were wide. Similar to epithelial ovarian cancer surgery these patients may be considered for referral to specialized centres with high surgical experience, since the strongest predictor of overall survival is the amount of postoperative residual disease (127,129).

Systematic pelvic and para-aortic lymph node (LN) dissection has a higher diagnostic accuracy than palpation and removal of enlarged LN's or LN sampling. (Grade A)

Non randomised evidence suggests that systematic pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy maybe appropriate for high grade disease and non-endometrioid endometrial cancers. Recruitment into trials investigating lymphadenectomy including sentinel node surgery is strongly recommended. (Grade C)

There is no prospectively randomized trial so far demonstrating any therapeutic value of systematic lymph node dissection (LND) in ECCC, and the value of lymphadenectomy lies mainly on the accurate staging revealing occult disease and hence to determine the optimal adjuvant treatment for the affected patients.

In a prospectively randomized study, Benedetti-Panici et al. demonstrated a four-fold increase in the rate of detection of LN metastases when systematic lymphadenectomy was performed in comparison to the removal of enlarged nodes only (44). Another prospective randomized study in early epithelial ovarian cancer comparing LN-sampling versus systematic LND showed that 13% of the positive LN were missed in the only sampling group compared to the systematic LND arm. This means that 13% of the apparently early stage disease had an occult stage III disease and were under staged by inaccurate staging (150).

Para-aortic LND up to the renal veins is more accurate to detect para-aortic LN-metastases. (Grade C)

Through numerous mapping studies, it has been demonstrated that if EC has extended to a para-aortic node, the majority of metastases are in the area between the renal veins and inferior mesenteric artery (IMA) (151-156). Mariani et al. found in a prospective assessment of over 400 EC patients, that 77% of the patients with para-aortic lymphatic spread had positive LN in the area above the IMA (153).

Therefore, para-aortic LND up to the level of the IMA would leave higher positive para-aortic LN undetected.

If adequately staged, then patients with early stage ECCC derive no benefit from adjuvant systemic chemotherapy or external beam radiation. (Grade C)

Adjuvant therapy of early-stage USC and ECCC is controversial. Many trials of prospective and retrospective design have been conducted to evaluate outcomes of patients with early or later stage disease to define the optimal treatment after complete surgical staging (157-159). Rauh et al. (158) evaluated all patients with FIGO stage I ECCC after comprehensive surgical staging in a 10-year period to compare the outcome with and without adjuvant radiation therapy. Twenty-five patients with stage I ECCC were identified of whom 13 (52%) received no adjuvant therapy and 12 (48%) received adjuvant radiation therapy. The five-year disease-free survival and overall survival rates for the observation and the radiotherapy groups were 78% and 75%, (p=0.7) and 85% and 82% (p = 0.1), respectively. When compared to controls, the five-year disease-free survival rates and overall survival rates of patients with stage I ECCC were not significantly different, 77% vs 75% (p = 0.8) and 84% vs 88% (p = 0.5) respectively. The authors concluded that in patients with stage I ECCC tumors there was no clear benefit to adjuvant radiation given the absence of improvement in recurrence risk or any survival benefit. A further study by Kwon et al. (159) showed that adjuvant therapy may not be necessary for stage Ia and Ib (pre-2009 FIGO staging) serous papillary and ECCC after adequate surgical staging. From 2000 to 2006, they evaluated all consecutive patients (n=22) with stage Ia/ Ib serous papillary or ECCC who had surgical staging by a gynecological oncologist at the London Health Sciences Centre in Canada. Only one patient recurred (stage Ib UPSC, isolated vault recurrence 10 months after surgery), but she was well nine months after receiving pelvic radiotherapy and vault brachytherapy. Two-year disease-free survival was 95%.

Platinum based systemic chemotherapy may be appropriate for adjuvant therapy for ECCC patients with advanced stage III or IV disease. (Grade C)

There are controversies about the optimal chemotherapeutical regimen. Several platinum-based combination chemotherapy regimens have been evaluated in clinical trials, including carboplatin plus paclitaxel, doxorubicin plus cisplatin (AP), and AP plus paclitaxel (TAP). Most current European guidelines, including the UK, recommend combination chemotherapy in preference to single agent platinum, historically platinum with doxorubicin. However increasingly, treating physicians tend to choose paclitaxel and carboplatin due to its more favourable toxicity profile.

Trials presented below contained a mixture of histology types.

The combination approach of carboplatin plus paclitaxel in the adjuvant setting has been further reinforced by the results of GOG 209, which were presented at the 2012 Society of Gynecologic Oncology Annual Meeting (160). This trial compared carboplatin plus paclitaxel to TAP in 1,300 women with chemotherapy naïve advanced EC, including women with stage III disease, and demonstrated that carboplatin and paclitaxel results in an equivalent overall response rate, similar progression-free survival, but is also less toxic. The currently ongoing GOG 258 trial will evaluate the use of chemotherapy alone (six cycles of carboplatin plus paclitaxel) versus volume-directed pelvic radiotherapy (RT) with concomitant cisplatin followed by chemotherapy (four cycles of carboplatin plus paclitaxel) in patients with optimally debulked FIGO stage III or IVa EC, including clear cell and serous papillary and undifferentiated carcinomas. Also PORTEC 3 is comparing patients with high risk stage I (including women with USC and ECCC), stage II and III EC to treatment with adjuvant RT alone to RT with concomitant cisplatin followed by four cycles of carboplatin plus paclitaxel.

External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) has not been demonstrated to improve the overall survival in ECCC and is equally effective in preventing local recurrence to vaginal brachytherapy (VBT) but with higher toxicity. (Grade C)

In ECCC the risk of recurrence is not only locally but also as multifocal peritoneal disease. Therefore, achieving local control is not as important a goal as for endometrioid ECs.

The PORTEC-2-trial (89) in high and intermediate risk endometrioid endometrial cancer has clearly shown in a prospective randomized design that VBT is equally effective to EBRT in ensuring vaginal control, with fewer gastrointestinal toxic effects than with EBRT. A total of 427 women were randomly assigned treatment with VBT or EBRT. At 45 months there were no statistically significant differences between VBT and pelvic RT in terms of: locoregional recurrence (5% vs. 3% percent for VBT and pelvic RT, respectively), distant metastases (8% vs. 6%, respectively), five-year disease free survival (83% vs. 78%, respectively) and overall survival (85% vs. 80%, respectively). VBT was however associated with a significantly lower rate of treatment-related diarrhoea and other bowel symptoms (13% vs. 54%, respectively).

This evidence is corroborated specifically for USC and ECCC in two retrospective series (161,162).

There is also little evidence to support the utility of whole abdominal irradiation (WART) in patients with ECCC, particularly those with early stage disease. To date no prospective, randomized phase III clinical trials have been conducted evaluating the role of WART especially just for ECCC, so that its true benefit remains undefined but is unlikely to be any more successful than EBRT given that the dose to the whole abdomen is likely to be lower.

14. Non-endometrioid cancer: uterine carcinosarcoma

Uterine carcinosarcomas comprise between three to 8% of uterine cancers. The incidence has risen in the course of the last 20 years. It is unclear whether this is due to improved histopathological and immunocytochemical techniques which now identify carcinosarcomas which were previously called poorly differentiated carcinomas or whether this may be due to the greater availability of subspecialty expertise from gynae-pathologists. Whatever the reason this has now become a more common tumour and clinicians are faced with the practicalities of managing these patients.

However, there is now increasing evidence that carcinosarcomas as opposed to leiomyosarcomas and endometrial stromal sarcomas are not sarcomas at all, and from the use of molecular markers and profiling that these are poorly differentiated endometrial carcinomas. Patterns of spread almost always show that metastases are epithelial showing the carcinomatous component and not the sarcomatous component. It sometimes appears confusing when mixed tumours are seen which contain poorly differentiated carcinomatous components, serous or clear cell but nevertheless it is increasingly being recognised that these fit into the type II endometrial carcinoma spectrum.

The consequence of this is given that they are similar to type II endometrial carcinomas, they should probably be managed in similar manner. This means that this is one of the indications where patients should be considered for referral to the specialist gynae-oncology centres for surgical management. There is a stronger feeling that pelvic lymph node dissection is more important in this group of patients. The GOG study reported by Major et al. in 1993 showed that around 15-20% of patients with carcinosarcomas had positive lymph nodes. This is significantly higher than leiomyosarcomas and well differentiated endometrial carcinomas. This also has significant implications for adjuvant treatment.

Patients with the initial endometrial biopsy suggestive of carcinosarcoma should be discussed at the SMDT and would normally be recommended to undergo additional scanning with an MRI of the pelvis and CT of chest and abdomen. Following initial management, histology should be reviewed by centre gynaecological pathologist. (Grade C)

The higher risk of pelvic lymph node metastasis justifies the recommendation that patients should be considered for pelvic and possible para-aortic lymphadenectomy in addition to hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (BSO) if patients are fit to undergo the procedure. (Grade C)

Recruitment into trials investigating lymphadenectomy including sentinel node surgery is strongly recommended. (Grade C)

Many of these patients do have significant co-morbidity such as obesity, diabetes, hypertension and may not be good candidates for more aggressive surgical approaches but nevertheless a strong case can be made for referring these patients for central surgery where they will undergo total hysterectomy, BSO, omentectomy and pelvic lymph node dissection and discussion of para-aortic lymph node dissection. It remains unclear whether lymphadenectomy in general has a therapeutic benefit but certainly the information gained from the additional staging procedure will help tailoring adjuvant treatment. Following surgery patients should have their cases discussed again at the SMDT so that specialist pathology can be obtained with a full multidisciplinary discussion regarding the place of adjuvant treatment.

Adjuvant treatments should be individualised and should be discussed at the SMDT. The combination of systemic chemotherapy followed by vaginal brachytherapy is a reasonable post-operative approach to the management of carcinosarcomas, pending the outcome of large trials. (Grade C)

In general, the three adjuvant treatments are radiotherapy, chemotherapy and hormonal therapy and perhaps in the next five years the new targeted agents will become established but these are not yet of proven value. There remains no reason to recommend the routine use of adjuvant hormonal therapy in the adjuvant setting.

The EORTC Gynaecological Cancer Group initiated a clinical trial randomising patients with all types of uterine sarcomas of stage I and II who received appropriate surgical staging to undergo either adjuvant radiotherapy or no additional treatment. This trial was reported in 2008 and showed that although there was a significant reduction in local recurrence, there was no overall survival benefit and similar to studies in endometrial carcinomas there was a tendency to worse overall survival in those who received adjuvant radiation treatment (163). Therefore, it cannot be recommended to routinely use adjuvant radiotherapy in this group of patients.

External beam radiotherapy has not been shown to be of any benefit in overall survival although may reduce the risk of local recurrence. Vaginal brachytherapy may help to reduce local relapse rate and may be optionally selected. There may be individual cases where there is residual disease or where excised nodes are positive where one may wish to consider adjuvant radiation but this again should be discussed at the SMDT. The role of vaginal brachytherapy is more contentious as there is no evidence base to support or refute its use. Nevertheless, many centres do consider the use of vaginal brachytherapy in view of its reported reduction in the risk of local recurrence.

This leaves adjuvant chemotherapy as an option. The place of adjuvant chemotherapy in high risk endometrial carcinomas is again controversial. The NSGO/ EORTC/ ILIAD study did show improvement in progression free survival and a trend towards improvement in overall survival from the combined analysis, and this approach is being further investigated by the PORTEC 3 study(105). However, given that adjuvant radiotherapy has no impact on overall survival and simply reduces the risk of local relapse, it may be argued that these patients are at greater risk of developing distant metastases and therefore systemic treatment would be more likely to have an impact. Increasingly systemic adjuvant chemotherapy is being used in these patients and in many centres four to six cycles of adjuvant chemotherapy with carboplatin and paclitaxel is used with or without the use of adjuvant brachytherapy.

Recurrent disease is usually shown to be carcinomatous rather than sarcomatous. ER and PR status are usually negative so of limited value but should be checked as the occasional patient shows positivity. (Grade C)

For patients with no symptoms, who have hormone receptor positive tumours, endocrine therapy may be a good approach. Most patients will have symptomatic disease and thus will require chemotherapy. Anthracyclines, platinum, ifosfamide and taxanes have been the most active agents. Carboplatin is active and effective and has generally replaced the combination of cisplatin and doxorubicin which are poorly tolerated. If prior chemotherapy has been used and the time interval is less than 12 months, it is likely that the tumour will be platinum resistant (as in ovarian cancer). Second line schedules have poor response. Doxorubicin either alone or in combination with ifosfamide may be used. The GOG study of ifosfamide and paclitaxel was superior to ifosfamide alone but ifosfamide is a drug with a higher toxicity profile and is infrequently chosen by oncologists.

Following this, there is no established third line regime and patients should be considered for phase one trials if fit. Other options which are unproven include weekly paclitaxel. Drugs like Caelyx (PLDH) and topotecan have disappointing activity in carcinosarcoma. To date the targeted molecular agents have no proven role but will be investigated further over the next few years as we enter the era of personalised medical care. Molecular profiling will help to identify when these agents can be used.

15. Management of uterine sarcomas

Standard treatment for all localised uterine sarcomas is total hysterectomy and bilateral salpingectomy. Lymphadenectomy is not routinely indicated. (Grade C)

Oophorectomy is indicated for endometrial stromal sarcoma. These patients should not have postoperative hormone replacement therapy. Use of adjuvant anti-oestrogen therapy is not routinely indicated. (Grade D)

Adjuvant pelvic radiotherapy has not been shown to improve local control or survival, and is not routinely indicated in FIGO stage I and II uterine sarcoma. However, it could be considered for selected high risk cases. (Grade B)

Advanced/ metastatic uterine leiomyosarcoma (LMS) and undifferentiated endometrial sarcoma are treated systemically with the same drugs as soft tissue sarcomas at other sites. Gemcitabine and docetaxel may be particularly useful for LMS. (Grade B)

Advanced/ metastatic endometrial stromal sarcoma can be treated with anti-oestrogen therapy, with an aromatase inhibitor or progestogen. (Grade D)

Patients with sarcoma should be treated by specialist multidisciplinary teams. (Grade D)

Gynaecological sarcomas are rare accounting for only 2% of all gynaecological malignancies, hence there is a great paucity of high quality evidence to guide management of these patients. Evidence from trials and guidelines for soft tissue sarcomas is often adopted.

The WHO classification of uterine sarcomas (WHO):

A. Mesenchymal tumours

- 1. Leiomyosarcoma (LMS)
- 2. Endometrial stromal tumours
 - a. low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma (LG-ESS)

- b. high-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma (HG-ESS)
- c. undifferentiated uterine sarcoma
- 3. Miscellaneous
 - a. rhabdomyosarcoma
 - b. perivascular epithelioid cell tumour

B. Mixed tumours

- 1. Adenosarcoma
- 2. Carcinosarcoma regarded an epithelial tumour and should be treated as such (see section 14).

Uterine leiomyosarcoma

Recommendations

- The cornerstone of management of early LMS is total hysterectomy with bilateral salpingectomy
- Oophorectomy in young women is not mandatory
- Routine pelvic lymphadenectomy is not recommended
- Morcellation of fibroids should be avoided in peri- and postmenopausal women
- There is no data on the benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy
- Patients with advanced or recurrent LMS are usually offered chemotherapy unless complete surgical resection is possible
- Management of patients with primary or recurrent leiomyosarcoma requires a multidisciplinary team approach preferably with discussion with the regional sarcoma team.

Leiomyosarcomas (LMS) account for 1% of all uterine cancers and 35-40% of all uterine sarcomas, and therefore are the most common gynaecological sarcomas (164,165). Although rapidly growing pelvic mass can be a sign of uterine sarcoma, Parker et al., in their series of patients undergoing hysterectomy for a rapidly growing uterus found only one LMS out of 371 women (166). Leiomyosarcoma of the uterus is most commonly reported as an incidental finding in hysterectomy specimens.

Leiomyosarcoma has a poor prognosis with recurrence rate of up to 70% and overall 5-year survival for all stages of 39% (167). Survival is greatly dependent on the stage of disease, with a reported five-year survival of 95%, 45%, 48%, 18% for stage I, II, III and IV, respectively (168). Mitotic index, age are also important prognostic factors (169).

Early stage leiomyosarcoma

Surgery

Leiomyosarcoma is usually a postoperative diagnosis after hysterectomy or myomectomy, in 0.5% of the cases (170). If the diagnosis is known or suspected prior to surgery, *en bloc* total hysterectomy is the cornerstone of the management. Ovarian metastasis is uncommon (2%) in early stage (I-II), therefore oophorectomy in young women is not mandatory (171,172). Independent predictors of disease specific survival in patients with uterine LMS included age, race, stage, grade, and primary surgery. Oophorectomy was not found to have an independent impact on survival in a large series of 1396 patients from the SEER database (172).

Systematic pelvic lymphadenectomy is not routinely recommended, as the incidence of lymph node involvement is 6.6% (172). Lymphadenectomy has been shown to provide no survival benefit in a GOG study, however, patients with uterine carcinosarcoma were also included in the study (167). Debulking of enlarged lymph nodes is recommended for staging and treatment planning purposes.

Morcellation

Recent studies reported rates of incidental malignancy in morcellated uterine fibroids higher than previously expected. Wright et al in their study of 36,470 patients who underwent morcellation found uterine cancer in 0.27% of the cases (173). The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in their review found the risk of incidental uterine leiomyosarcoma in patients undergoing hysterectomy or myomectomy for presumed benign fibroids one in 498 (one in 352 for all uterine sarcomas) (174). A meta-analysis demonstrated that uterine fibroid morcellation increased the overall (62% vs. 39%) and intra-abdominal (39% vs. 9%) recurrence rates as well as death rate (48% vs. 29%) (175). For peri- and postmenopausal women, the FDA does not support the use of laparoscopic power morcellators for myomectomy (174).

Exceptionally, fertility preservation can be considered if the LMS is discovered in a pedunculated tumour, if all surgical margins were clear and if no morcellation was performed. Close follow-up is recommended, with clinical examination, regular ultrasound and hysteroscopy, six-monthly CT/ MRI and completion surgery when achieved fertility goals (176).

Adjuvant treatment for early uterine leiomyosarcoma

Radiotherapy

The EORTC 55874 trial which included 103 patients with stage I/ II LMS randomised patients between observation and pelvic radiotherapy after hysterectomy. The results showed no improved local control, disease-free survival or overall survival in the radiotherapy arm (163). The routine use of postoperative radiotherapy is not recommended in this patient group, however it may be considered for selected high-risk cases such as those with positive surgical excision margins.

Chemotherapy

There is no evidence that adjuvant chemotherapy would improve survival for early, completely resected uterine LMS (177,178). The SARC005 phase two study on patient with uterine LMS limited to uterus investigated an adjuvant chemotherapy regime of four cycles of gemcitabine/ docetaxel followed by four cycles of doxorubicin, and demonstrated superior outcome when compared with external controls (179). The prospective phase three trial using this protocol is ongoing.

Advanced stage or recurrent leiomyosarcoma

Surgery

Cytoreductive surgery even with complete resection of all visible disease does not seem to improve overall survival (180). In exceptional cases, the resection of pulmonary metastasis can be considered if the primary disease is completely resected (181).

Chemotherapy

The following chemotherapy agents demonstrated response in patients with unresectable, metastatic or recurrent soft tissue sarcomas: doxorubicin, gemcitabine, gemcitabine with docetaxel, ifosfamide have been investigated with a response rate up to 50% (177,182-184).

Combination chemotherapy when compared with monotherapy did not improve overall survival and resulted in more grade three to four complications (185). However, a randomised phase two trial comparing single agent gemcitabine with the combination of gemcitabine and docetaxel in the treatment of patients with recurrent or progressive soft tissue sarcoma demonstrated improved disease-free and overall survival for the gemcitabine combination (186).

Trabectedin is indicated for patients with recurrent soft-tissue sarcomas after failure of treatment with anthracyclines and ifosfamide (187).

Hormonal treatment

Oestrogen receptors (ER) and progesterone receptors (PR) are expressed in approximately half of the patients with LMS (188,189). Some low and intermediate grade tumours may be sensitive to oestrogen deprivation and therefore it is reasonable to check ER/ PR expression to consider aromatase inhibitors or progestogens (190,191).

Management of patients with endometrial stromal sarcoma

Low-grade ESSs are relatively indolent tumours with good prognosis and a propensity for late recurrences, and are characterised by special molecular features (chromosomal translocation (7;17) with JAZF1-SUZ12, EPC1-PHF1 or JAZF1-PHF1 transcripts (192). A subset of ESS patients with specific cytogenetic features (translocation (10;17), with YWHAE-FAM22 transcript) is distinguished by their aggressive behaviour and poor prognosis; this group is called high-grade ESS. They are more likely to present in more advanced stage and their response to hormonal treatment is limited (193).

Early stage endometrial stromal sarcoma

Surgical treatment

Surgical treatment with total hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy is the cornerstone of the treatment, and in view of the hormone responsiveness of ESS, oophorectomy is always recommended even in pre-menopausal women.

There is limited preliminary data on fertility sparing approach in young women with ESS after hysteroscopic resection; currently this approach should only be considered within the context of research studies (194).

The role of lymphadenectomy is unclear; the incidence of lymph node involvement is around 10% (195). The lymph node status has prognostic significance and may guide adjuvant treatment but there is no evidence that it would improve survival.

Adjuvant treatment

There is no data supporting adjuvant treatment (chemotherapy, radiotherapy, hormonal therapy) for early stage ESS with complete resection. In view of the high rate of expression of ER/ PR in low-grade ESS, oestrogen or tamoxifen treatment is not advised (196).

Advanced or recurrent endometrial stromal sarcoma

Surgical treatment

Surgical resection may be considered in completely resectable cases (197).

Systemic treatment

In disseminated or recurrent cases aromatase inhibitors (letrezol, anastrazol), progestogens

(medroxyprogesterone or megestrol) or GnRH analogues (for premenopausal patients) have been demonstrated to provide patients with long-term control of disease (197). Tamoxifen is contraindicated due to possible agonist activity (198). In hormonal therapy resistant cases, ifosfamide chemotherapy can be considered (199).

Uterine adenosarcoma

Uterine adenosarcomas are mixed tumours, composed of benign glandular and low grade sarcomatous stromal components. The majority of these cases present in an early stage (80% stage I) with good prognosis (200).

Uterine adenosarcoma with sarcomatous overgrowth, however, is a high-risk sarcoma with >25% high grade sarcomatous component and with poor prognosis (median overall survival of 55.4 months compared to 112.4 months for patients with no sarcomatous overgrowth) (200).

Due to its low prevalence, there are no established treatment strategies available for adenosarcomas, but for early stage disease, total hysterectomy with bilateral salpingo-ophorectomy is usually performed with no adjuvant treatment (201).

16. Follow-up for endometrial cancer

Individualised follow-up strategies should be prescribed by the multidisciplinary team once treatment is complete. These should stratify patients by anticipated risks of recurrence, side effects of treatment and take into account patient or local factors. (Grade D)

Follow-up should focus on detecting potentially treatable recurrences such as isolated vaginal vault tumour in women who could tolerate salvage radiotherapy or exenterative surgery. (Grade D)

Women should receive information on symptoms that should prompt medical attention, for example vaginal bleeding and discharge. (Grade D)

The organisation of clinics should include continuity of care, address survivorship issues and prescribe in advance the frequency and purpose of follow-up. (Grade D)

Routine follow-up to detect recurrence can be discontinued in women not considered fit for any further treatment after discussion with the patient and appropriate links with community palliative support established where needed. (Grade D)

Alternative modes of follow-up such as telephone follow-up do not appear to be inferior to hospital follow-up, in terms of quality of life for stage I endometrial cancer. (Grade A)

There is currently no evidence to support the use of routine imaging or biochemical testing in follow-up for endometrial cancer. (Grade D)

Follow-up describes the continued care of women after endometrial cancer treatment. The package of care should be designed to screen for recurrent disease and manage the consequences of cancer and treatment.

The traditional follow-up of gynaecological cancer follows the same clinical pathway based in secondary care with clinical examinations every three months for the first three years and annually for the subsequent two years. These visits allow hospitals to audit their outcomes, provide holistic survivorship care and screen for recurrent disease. Patients may suffer anxiety or enjoy the reassurance from a clinical examination. They may have an opportunity to discuss holistic needs with specialist nurses or keyworkers. Holistic survivorship care addresses cancer treatment sequelae and these consults can be conveniently combined with follow-up clinics.

Guidelines relating to follow-up of endometrial cancer treatment should focus on the screening for asymptomatic recurrent disease with individualised survivorship care managed separately, although this could be in the same clinic. All follow-up programmes should aim to identify asymptomatic isolated pelvic recurrence or vaginal vault recurrence. Some women with multiple co-morbidities may not be suitable for any further treatment on grounds of fitness; it is reasonable for these women to be discharged from routine follow-up and an individualised care plan put in place.

One RCT comparing hospital and telephone follow-up for women treated for endometrial cancer (ENDCAT: Endometrial Cancer Telephone follow-up trial) showed that telephone follow-up was not inferior to hospital follow-up in terms of psychological morbidity (202).

Technique

Identifying vaginal vault disease requires visual inspection of the vagina. Tumour breaching the vagina will be visible and can be detected by any trained health care practitioner. There is no prodromal atypia and therefore vault cytology is inappropriate. There is no evidence to suggest that general practitioners, hospital consultants, nurse colposcopists or trained nurse specialists have better outcomes. Continuity of care may be associated with greater satisfaction and nurse specialists make the case that this is why they should be involved in all follow-up programmes. Pelvic side wall and central recurrent disease can be identified by bimanual vaginal examination, rectal examination or ultrasound.

Frequency of visits.

For women with low risk endometrioid endometrial cancers, it is reasonable to restrict follow-up to a limited number of infrequent visits for the first two years. Alternatively, patients with low risk endometrial cancer can be discharged to patient initiated follow-up. Such patients should receive written instructions on when to seek medical input and re- referral and their GP should be informed of this. (Grade D)

For women with high risk endometrial cancers, it is reasonable to use a more rigorous follow-up schedule, with more frequent visits in the first two years, up to five years. (Grade D)

The data is not robust enough to allow us to calculate the utility of follow-up with precision but women with low risk endometrial cancer should be reassured that failure to attend at a follow-up clinic is extremely unlikely to be detrimental to their survival prospects. (Grade D)

The current practice of seeing all women at three monthly clinic intervals for three years followed by annual visit seems illogical when different cancers have different recurrence risks. Follow-up intervals should depend on the threshold for detection, the incidence of any abnormal findings and the benefit derived from early detection. Most of the evidence on the pattern of recurrence of disease is from the era of high rates of adjuvant radiotherapy. Many studies were small and the

current pattern of recurrence might be different to historical studies. Advocates of intensive clinical follow-up suggest that early detection of disease is important, particularly as most women have not had adjuvant treatment and are salvageable, if disease is confined to the vault. However, only a small minority of patients will develop recurrent disease and the majority of those will present with vaginal bleeding between clinic appointments. In 2008-2009, there were over 80,000 gynaecology oncology follow-up hospital appointments in England, compared to 10,000 in 2005-2006 (203) yet there is no hard evidence that early detection of recurrent disease improves survival (204-206).

A systematic review (207) designed to inform the Canadian healthcare system on optimum follow-up strategies for endometrial cancer reviewed 16 non comparative observational studies. Survival graphs show that most of the deaths from high grade disease occur within the first two years but well differentiated tumours and adjuvant radiotherapy are associated with much longer remission intervals. The risk of recurrence is also very different varying from 0% to 50% depending on the pathology of the tumour. This implies that follow-up appointments should be most frequent in the first 24 months for high grade tumours and much less frequent but for longer in other cases. It also implies that there may be some cases where the risk of recurrence falls below the threshold for any follow-up. There is no systematic review that allows us to calculate individualised recurrence rates, sites and timing based on all the risk factors of age, lymphovascular invasion, node status, and adjuvant therapy. Until this is available, we can only estimate the value of follow-up for each individual.

In the absence of clinical trials comparing outcomes of intensive secondary care follow-up and no follow-up, clinical teams have to base judgments on follow-up management based on risk of recurrence, and the clinical combined with psychological benefits of traditional follow-up. Potential options for follow-up based on risk stratification are

- 1) immediate discharge following initial treatment,
- 2) clinic based follow-up with traditional frequency of visits over five years in
 - a) Traditional secondary care gynaecology doctor led clinics
 - b) Secondary care gynaecology nurse led clinics:
 - c) Nurse led telephone follow-up
 - d) Primary care follow-up
- 3) individualised programmes based on the need for psychological survivorship support, management of late radiation toxicity, oestrogen deficiency and the individualised risk of recurrence.

Eliciting symptoms at follow-up

Women should have an opportunity to address their symptoms attributable to their cancer and its management after completion of treatment. (Grade D)

Women who have received brachytherapy should have a vaginal examination and dilation therapy advised if they are clinically at risk of vaginal stenosis, or if they have an intention in the future of having penetrative sex. (Grade D)

The first follow up visit after hysterectomy with curative intent offers an opportunity to ask about symptoms attributable to cancer and the consequences of treatment. It would be reasonable but not mandatory to ask women who have not had radiotherapy about the following; sexual function, fatigue, body image, pain, urinary function, vaginal bleeding, leg swelling, menopause symptoms, work, finances and anxieties about recurrence.

These can be elicited using a semi-structured clinical enquiry or a formal written assessment tool, according to local practice.

Women who have also had external beam radiotherapy should have additional regular enquiries about defecation frequency (to consider loperamide or alternative), bleeding from the rectum, stools that float (to assess fat malabsorption), weight loss (to assess malabsorption), diarrhoea (to assess the risk of radiation colitis and malabsorption), rectal urgency and incontinence(to consider physiotherapy), haematuria, bladder urgency and capacity (to consider anticholinergics), vaginal dryness and dyspareunia (to consider vaginal lubricant).

Follow-up for endometrial sarcomas

There is no evidence on the optimal follow up strategy for patient with uterine sarcoma. As early detection of recurrence with the aim of complete surgical resection is the only effective way of managing recurrent sarcoma, most soft-tissue sarcoma guidelines recommend regular CT scans and physical examinations (198).

17. Supportive care – addressing patient needs

This section provides information on supportive care and aims to signpost the reader to agencies that provide supportive resources for the endometrial cancer patient and her family.

All patients should have a named keyworker to co-ordinate treatment and their care pathway. For the vast majority of patients this will be the clinical nurse specialist. Contact details of keyworker should be given to the patient in a format they can use. (Grade D)

Background

The National Cancer Survivorship Initiative (NCSI), originating from the Cancer Reform Strategy (DH 2007) is a collaboration between NHS England and Macmillan Cancer Support. The aim is to ensure that those living with and beyond cancer get the care and support they need to lead as healthy and active life as possible, for as long as possible. More information is available on the concise links:

http://www.ncsi.org.uk

http://www.ncsi.org.uk/what-we-are-doing/the-recovery-package/.

The Recovery Package comprises the following domains of care;

- Structured holistic needs assessment and care planning; suggested responsible clinician, keyworker, generally the clinical nurse specialist
- End of treatment summaries and cancer care reviews; suggested responsible clinician; treating oncologist and GP respectively
- Patient education and support events (Health and Wellbeing Clinic) provided by the responsible clinician, clinical nurse specialist and charitable organisations. To incorporate advice and access to schemes that support physical, psychosocial and psychological needs.

NCSI programmes of care related to the endometrial cancer patient via these links cover the following topics

- 1. Assessment and Care Planning
- 2. Health and Wellbeing Clinics
- 3. Managing Active and Advanced Disease

- 4. Supported Self Management
- 5. Consequences of Cancer and its Treatment
- 6. Work and Finance
- 7. Vocational Rehabilitation
- 8. Physical Activity

18. Management of relapsed endometrial carcinoma

All patients with disease recurrence should be managed in a multi-disciplinary team consisting of surgeons, medical and clinical oncologists, radiologists, palliative care physicians, and clinical psychologists. (Grade D)

The treatment of recurrent endometrial cancer is often challenging due to the sites of relapse, the age of the patient and long-term effects of prior therapy. In particular, the input from palliative care physicians should be sought as many patients either have symptoms from their cancer, or are likely to experience symptoms following salvage therapy or further disease progression in the future. This recommendation already exists as a NICE clinical guideline for breast cancer (208).

Patients who have not received prior radiotherapy should be considered for radical radiotherapy as treatment for localised or pelvic recurrence. (Grade B)

Isolated vaginal recurrence in patients who have not received prior external beam radiotherapy can effectively be treated with salvage radiotherapy. Long-term follow-up of stage 1 patients with mostly adenocarcinoma in the PORTEC I trial showed that in the observation only arm, radiotherapy achieved an 89% complete response rate and a 65% five-year survival. This compares to a five-year survival rate of 43% in previously irradiated patients, which was no different to those patients who experienced distant metastases (94). In retrospective series, size of tumour at recurrence may help select patients more suited to salvage radiotherapy, with the most commonly suggested cut-off being 2cm. At five years, this translates into local control of 80% and overall survival of 50-55% (209,210).

Isolated abdomino-pelvic disease that appears resectable, with no evidence of further distant metastases can be considered for surgery with the aim of an R0 resection (total macroscopic clearance). Caution should be exercised in older patients and those with early disease recurrence. (Grade D)

Sometimes NACT or hormonal treatment prior to resection of metastatic disease allows the identification of hormone responders who are more likely to benefit long term. Surgery may be a useful modality in patients with good performance status, isolated disease and with long disease free intervals.

Surgery may be used to treat localised recurrent disease and can be curative in carefully selected cases. (Grade C)

In a retrospective series of 61 patients with recurrent endometrial carcinoma, 35 were treated with salvage surgery, usually those who had received prior radiotherapy; about two thirds had endometrioid carcinoma. Patients undergoing surgery achieved a median overall survival of 28 months, and 39 months if complete cytoreduction was achieved. This compares to an overall survival of 13 and 13.5 months if residual disease was present after surgery or radiotherapy alone,

respectively. These differences were statistically highly significant even after adjustment for multiple testing (211). In another retrospective series of 62 patients, those who had pelvic exenteration had a five-year overall survival of 52%; factors adversely affecting prognosis were age greater than 69 years, recurrence within three years of the original diagnosis, persistent tumour after surgery, and positive resection margins (212). Lastly, based on a prospective case series of 75 patients, those with central vaginal relapse experienced superior outcomes, with 42% surviving five years compared to patients with 'extended abdominal' disease (five-year overall survival 17%). Patients with abdominal carcinomatosis at relapse are not candidates for surgery, with no patient surviving beyond 13 months in this series (213). For patients who have received prior radiotherapy, pelvic exenteration, while highly morbid, achieves five-year overall survival rates of 20-50% (214,215). However, in general, there is a much smaller role for exenteration in recurrent endometrial cancer than in other gynaecological cancers.

Patients being considered for radical pelvic surgery or radiotherapy should be imaged staged using PET/CT to exclude distant metastases, prior to surgery. (Grade B)

Based on a recent meta-analysis, PET/CT has a sensitivity of 95.8% (95% CI 92.2-98.1), and specificity of 92.5% (95% CI 89.3-94.9) in this setting (216) and has been reported to change the management plan in up to 22% of patients with recurrent endometrioid adenocarcinoma (217). The meta-analysis included 541 patients with adenocarcinoma; it is not clear if PET/CT is equally sensitive and specific in all subtypes (216).

Following local surgical therapy for recurrence, further 'adjuvant' chemotherapy can be considered although as in first line treatment, there is no clear evidence to support this approach. (Grade D)

For patients with an R1 resection or who have had incomplete cytoreduction for vaginal or pelvic recurrence, post-operative radiotherapy or brachytherapy should be considered if normal tissue tolerance allows (Grade D)

In a prospective trial of 75 consecutive patients with recurrent endometrial cancer who underwent salvage surgery, those patients who received post-operative chemotherapy at the discretion of the treating physician had significantly better outcomes than those who did not. There was a mixture of regimens employed, and 20% had prior chemotherapy, while 37% of patients had prior radiotherapy. It is not possible to draw conclusions regarding the interaction of these factors and outcome (213). There are no good data to support the use of radiotherapy as consolidation therapy for R1 margins however this practice seems sensible given the poorer prognosis conferred by the R1 resection margin (212).

Chemotherapy-naïve patients who relapse with systemic disease or those with late relapse after receiving adjuvant chemotherapy, should be considered for doublet chemotherapy with carboplatin and paclitaxel. (Grade A)

Fit patients with disseminated recurrent disease can be offered primary systemic therapy such as carboplatin and paclitaxel. Several other agents have shown useful activity in this setting (doxorubicin, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide) (218). A trial in 281 patients comparing doxorubicin to doxorubicin with cisplatin showed improved response rates (42% vs. 25%), and prolonged progression-free survival HR=0.736 (95% CI, 0.58 to 0.94; P =0.014), translating in a median progression-free survival gain of 1.9 months for the combination. Overall survival was not significantly different between the treatment arms (219). The results of this US trial were mirrored by those of the EORTC study in 177 chemotherapy naïve patients using the same chemotherapy arms (220). There is some evidence for a modest (up to three months) improvement in overall

survival with a more intense three drug regimen (doxorubicin, cisplatin, paclitaxel), but at the cost of markedly increased toxicity, leading to 24% of patients discontinuing the experimental three drug arm (221).

The GOG 209 study, a non-inferiority randomized study of carboplatin AUC6 and paclitaxel 175mg/m² compared to doxorubicin, cisplatin and paclitaxel with G-CSF support has reported in abstract form, showing that the carboplatin and paclitaxel combination is non-inferior with significantly less toxicity in patients with relapsed endometrial adenocarcinoma (222). Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin can be combined with carboplatin in fit patients, and has also been used followed by carboplatin/paclitaxel with acceptable toxicity. This may be particularly suited to patients with carcinosarcoma (223).

Second line chemotherapy can be considered in fit patients as either a re-challenge with carboplatin and paclitaxel if the treatment free-interval is more than six months, or single agent chemotherapy if less than six months or less fit patients. (Grade D)

For second line chemotherapy or relapse within six months of adjuvant carboplatin and paclitaxel, response rates are disappointing, but pegylated liposomal doxorubicin has been used with good palliation in some patients even if the response rate (9.5%) and overall survival (8.4 months) are modest (224). Topotecan given for five days every three weeks produces a response rate of 9% and a maximal response duration of 6.9 months, at a cost of 60% grade four neutropaenia (225). The use of weekly paclitaxel is only supported by anecdotal evidence; but based on its useful activity in ovarian cancer and tolerability, it is an option for selected patients.

Patients not fit for chemotherapy may benefit from a trial of a progestin. Selected cases with long disease free interval, well-differentiated tumours, lung only metastases and high oestrogen or progesterone receptor expression in the tumour may be candidates for primary hormonal therapy. However, there is no evidence that hormonal treatment in patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer improves overall survival (79). (Grade C)

For some patients, hormonal therapy may be a more appropriate option than chemotherapy. Response rates are in the order of 20-25%, and higher responses are seen in those with progesterone receptor positive tumours (226,227). It has been suggested that patients with a long treatment-free interval between the initial diagnosis and disease recurrence, and those with lung only metastases, appear to benefit more. Attempts to improve on the initial trials using dose-escalation did not show any benefit from higher doses of medroxyprogesterone (MPA) but underlined the importance of progesterone receptor expression in the tumour with an overall survival of 11.1 months; a dose of MPA 200 mg/d orally is recommended (228). Trials with tamoxifen showed similar survival (8.8 months) but lower response rates (10.3%) (229). Likewise, aromatase inhibitors have disappointing response rates (9%), the overall survival for letrozole and anastrozole are of a similar magnitude as for other hormonal agents, with 8.8 months and 6 months, respectively (230,231). The ongoing PARAGON trial of Anastrazole in recurrent endometrioid cancer will provide further evidence as to the efficacy of aromatase inhibitors in this setting, which for patients with cardiac comorbidities may well be advantageous.

An alternating regime of megestrol acetate (MA) 80 mg twice daily for three weeks followed by tamoxifen 20 mg twice daily for three weeks orally to upregulate progesterone receptors may improve outcomes compared to MA alone with response rates of 27% and a median overall survival of 14 months at the cost of slightly more grade 3/4 side effects (232).

One Cochrane review investigating the role of hormonal therapy in advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer found six trials (542 participants) that met the inclusion criteria. These trials

assessed the effectiveness of hormonal therapy in women with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer as a single agent, as part of combination therapy and as low versus high dose. This systematic review found no evidence that hormonal treatment in patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer improves overall survival (79).

19. Areas of future research/ developments

- 1) Routine testing of patients with endometrial cancer for genetic predisposition syndromes
- 2) Registry for patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy for uterine cancer
- 3) Novel radiation techniques for adjuvant therapy in uterine cancer
- 4) Debulking surgery for advanced stage uterine cancer
- 5) Primary care testing and development of diagnostic algorithms for women with symptoms of endometrial cancer in primary care

20. Bibliography

- (1) Klopp A, Smith BD, Alektiar K, Cabrera A, Damato AL, Erickson B, et al. The role of postoperative radiation therapy for endometrial cancer: Executive summary of an American Society for Radiation Oncology evidence-based guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2014;4(3):137-144.
- (2) Colombo N, Creutzberg C, Amant F, Bosse T, González-Martín A, Ledermann J, et al. ESMO-ESGO-ESTRO Consensus Conference on Endometrial Cancer: diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2016;27(1):16-41.
- (3) Evans T, Sany O, Pearmain P, Ganesan R, Blann A, Sundar S. Differential trends in the rising incidence of endometrial cancer by type: data from a UK population-based registry from 1994 to 2006. Br J Cancer 2011 26 April;104(9):1505-1510.
- (4) Smith-Bindman R, Kerlikowske K, Feldstein Vea. Endovaginal ultrasound to exclude endometrial cancer and other abnormalities. JAMA 1998;89(8):1765-1772.
- (5) Jacobs I, Gentry-Maharaj A, Burnell Mea. Sensitivity of transvaginal ultrasound screening for endometrial cancer in postmenopausal women: a case control study within the UKCTOCS cohort. Lancet Oncol 2011;12:38-48.
- (6) Smith-Bindman R, Weiss E, Feldstein V. How thick is too thick? When endometrial thickness should prompt biopsy in postmenopausal women without vaginal bleeding. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2004;24(5):558-565.
- (7) Archer D, McIntyre-Seltman K, Wilborn Jr, WW. et al. Endometrial morphology in asymptomatic postmenopausal women. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1991;165(2):317-320.
- (8) Meyer L, Broaddus R, Lu K. Endometrial Cancer and Lynch Syndrome: clinical and pathologic considerations. Cancer Control 2009;16(1):14-22.
- (9) Helder-Woolderlink J, De Bock G, Sijmons Rea. The additional value of endometrial sampling in the early detection of endometrial cancer in women with Lynch syndrome. Gynecol Oncol 2013;131(2):304-308.
- (10) Fisher B, Constantino J, Wickerham Dea. Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel ProjectP-1 Study. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998;90:1371-1388.
- (11) Burstein HJ, Temin S, Anderson H, Buchholz TA, Davidson NE, Gelmon KE, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy for women with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: american society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline focused update. J Clin Oncol 2014;32(21):2255-2269.
- (12) Gerber B, Krause A, Muller Hea. Effects of adjuvant tamoxifen on the endometrium in postmenopausal women with breast cancer: a prospective long-term study using transvaginal ultrasound. J Clin Oncol 2000;18(20):3464-3470.
- (13) Crosbie E, Roberts C, Qian Wea. Body mass index does not influence post treatment survival in early stage endometrial cancer: results from the MRC ASTEC trial. Eur J Cancer 2012;48:853-864.
- (14) Crosbie EJ, Zwahlen M, Kitchener HC, Egger M, Renehan AG. Body mass index, hormone replacement therapy, and endometrial cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2010;19(12):3119-3130.
- (15) Schouten LJ, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA. Anthropometry, physical activity, and endometrial cancer risk: results from the Netherlands Cohort Study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004;96(21):1635-1638.
- (16) Trentham-Dietz A, Nichols HB, Hampton JM, Newcomb PA.
 Weight change and risk of endometrial cancer. Int J Epidemiol 2006;35(1):151-158.
- (17) Mackintosh ML, Crosbie EJ. Obesity-driven endometrial cancer: is weight loss the answer? BJOG 2013;120(7):791-794.

- (18) Sjöström L, Gummesson A, Sjöström CD, Narbro K, Crosbie EJ, Wedel H, et al. Effects of bariatric surgery on cancer incidence in obese patients in Sweden (Swedish Obese Subjects Study): a prospective, controlled intervention trial. Lancet Oncol 2009;10(7):653-662.
- (19) McCawley GM, Ferriss JS, Geffel D, Northup CJ, Modesitt SC.
 Cancer in obese women: potential protective impact of bariatric surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2009;208(6):1093-1098.
- (20) Adams TD, Hunt SC. Cancer and obesity: effect of bariatric surgery. World J Surg 2009;33(10):2028-2033.
- (21) Vasen HF, Blanco I, Aktan-Collan K, Gopie JP, Alonso A, Aretz S, et al. Revised guidelines for the clinical management of Lynch syndrome (HNPCC): recommendations by a group of European experts. Gut 2013;62(6):812-823.
- (22) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE guidelines (NG12) Suspected cancer: recognition and referral. June 2015; Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng12, 2016.
- (23) Gredmark T, Kvint S, Havel G, Mattson L. Histopathological findings in women with postmenopausal bleeding. BJOG 1995;102:133-136.
- (24) Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Investigation of Post-Menopausal Bleeding. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2002.
- (25) Dijkhuizen FP, Mol BW, Brolmann HA, Heintz AP. Cost-effectiveness of the use of transvaginal sonography in the evaluation of postmenopausal bleeding. Maturitas 2003;45:275-282.
- (26) Gull B, Karlsson B, Milsom I, Granberg S. Can ultrasound replace dilatation and curettage? A longitudinal evaluation of postmenopausal bleeding and transvaginal sonographic measurement of the endometrium as predictors of endometrial cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2003;188:401-408.
- (27) Timmermans A, Opmeer BC, Khan KS, Bachmann LM, Epstein E, Clark TJ, et al. Endometrial thickness measurement for detecting endometrial cancer in women with postmenopausal bleeding: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol 2010;116:160-167.
- (28) Gupta JK, Chien PFW, Voit D, Clark TJ, Khan KS. Ultrasonographic endometrial thickness for diagnosing endometrial pathology in women with postmenopausal bleeding: A meta-analysis. Acta Obstet Gynecol 2002;81:799-816.
- (29) Smith-Bindman R, Kerlikowske K, Feldstein VA, Subak L, Scheidler J, Segal M, et al. Endovaginal ultrasound to exclude endometrial cancer and other endometrial abnormalities. JAMA 1998;280:1510-1517.
- (30) Clark TJ, Mann CH, Shah N, Khan KS, Song F, Gupta JK. Accuracy of outpatient endometrial biopsy in the diagnosis of endometrial cancer: a systematic quantitative review. BJOG 2002;109:313-321.
- (31) Clark TJ, Voit D, Gupta JK, Hyde C, Song F, Khan KS. Accuracy of hysteroscopy in the diagnosis of endometrial cancer and hyperplasia: a systematic quantitative review. JAMA 2002;288:1610-1621
- (32) Health Service Circular. Cancer Waiting Times: Guidance on Making and Tracking Progress on Cancer Waiting Times. 005th ed.: HSC; 2002.
- (33) Improving Outcomes Guidance. Improving Outcomes in Gynaecological Cancers. 1999; Available at:

 http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh_4083846.pdf, 2016.
- (34) Royal College of Nursing. Specialist nurses; Changing lives, saving money. 2010; Available at: http://www.rcn.org.uk/ data/assets/pdf file/0008/302489/003581.pdf, 2016.
- (35) Target Ovarian Cancer. The Pathfinder Study. 2012; Available at: http://www.targetovariancancer.org.uk/core/core_picker/download.asp?id=1354&filetitle=Target+Ovarian+Cancer%27s+Pathfinder+Study, 2016.

- (36) National Cancer Action Team. Quality in Nursing Excellence in Cancer Quality in Nursing Excellence in Cancer Care: The Contribution of the Clinical Nurse Specialist. National Cancer Programme 2010.
- (37) Connor JP, Andrews JI, Anderson B, Buller RE. Computed tomography in endometrial carcinoma. Obstet Gynecol 2000;95(5):692-696.
- (38) Milam MR, Java J, Walker JL, Metzinger DS, Parker LP, Coleman RL. Nodal metastasis risk in endometrioid endometrial cancer. Obstet Gynecol 2012;119(2):286-292.
- (39) Selman TJ, Mann CH, Zamora J, Khan KS. A systematic review of tests for lymph node status in primary endometrial cancer. BMC Womens Health 2008:doi: 10.1186/1472-6874-8-8.
- (40) Ganesan R, Singh N, McCluggage WG. Standards and datasets for reporting cancers: Dataset for histological reporting of endometrial cancer. 2014; Available at: https://www.rcpath.org/asset/4E78C04D-8536-4554-80E0A3ECECADEE34/. Accessed 7 Nov, 2016.
- (41) Trimble CL, Kauderer J, Zaino R, Silverberg S, Lim PC, Burke JJ, et al. Concurrent endometrial carcinoma in women with a biopsy diagnosis of atypical endometrial hyperplasia: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Cancer 2006;106(4):812-819.
- (42) Frost JA, Webster KE, Bryant A, Morrison J. Lymphadenectomy for the management of endometrial cancer. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015(9):Art. No.: CD007585. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007585.pub3.
- (43) Kitchener H, Swart AM, Qian Q, Amos C, Parmar MK. Efficacy of systematic pelvic lymphadenectomy in endometrial cancer (MRC ASTEC trial): a randomised study. Lancet 2009;373(9658):125-136.
- (44) Benedetti-Panici P, Basile S, Maneschi F, Lissoni AA, Signorelli M, Scambia G, et al. Systematic pelvic lymphadenectomy in early-stage endometrial carcinoma: randomised clinical trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2008;100(23):1707-1716.
- (45) Traen K, Holund B, Mogensen O. Accuracy of preoperative tumour grade and intraoperative gross examination of myometrial invasion in patients with endometrial cancer. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2007;86(6):739-741.
- (46) Francis JA, Weir MM, Ettler HC, Qiu F, Kwon JS. Should preoperative pathology be used to selects patients for surgical staging in endometrial cancer? Int J Gynecol Cancer 2009;19(3):380-384.
- (47) Chi DS, Barakat RR, Palayekar MJ, Levine DA, Sonoda Y, Alektiar K, et al. The incidence of pelvic lymph node metastasis by FIGO staging for patients with adequately surgically staged endometrial adenocarcinoma of endometroid histology. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2008;18(2):269-273.
- (48) Ballester M, Dubernard G, Lécuru F, Heitz D, Mathevet P, Marret H, et al. Detection rate and diagnostic accuracy of sentinel-node biopsy in early stage endometrial cancer: a prospective multi-centre study (SENTI-ENDO). Lancet Oncol 2011;12(5):469-476.
- (49) Kang S, Yoo HJ, Hwang JH, Lim M, Seo S, Park S. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in endometrial cancer: Meta-analysis of 26 studies. Gynecol Oncol 2011;123(3):522-527.
- (50) Galaal K, Bryant A, Fisher AD, Al-Khaduri M, Kew F, Lopes AD. Laparoscopy versus laparotomy for the management of early stage endometrial cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;12(9):CD006655. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006655.pub2.
- (51) Walker JL, Piedmonte MR, Spirtos NM, Eisenkop SM, Schlaerth JB, Mannel RS, et al. Recurrence and Survival After Random Assignment to Laparoscopy Versus Laparotomy for Comprehensive Surgical Staging of Uterine Cancer: Gynecologic Oncology Group LAP2 Study. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(7):695-700.
- (52) National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. IPG356 Laparoscopic hysterectomy (including laparoscopic total hysterectomy and laparoscopically assisted vaginal hysterectomy) for endometrial cancer. London: NICE; 2010.

- (53) Wright JD, Burke WM, Wilde ET, Lewin SN, Charles AS, Kim JH, et al. Comparative effectiveness of robotic versus laparoscopic hysterectomy for endometrial cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012;30(8):783-791.
- (54) Kilgore JE, Jackson AL, Ko EM, Soper JT, Van Le L, Gehrig PA, et al. Recurrence-free and 5-year survival following robotic assisted surgical staging for endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 2013;129(1):49-53.
- (55) Gehrig PA, Cantrell LA, Shafer A, Abaid LN, Mendivil A, Boggess JF. What is the optimal minimally invasive surgical procedure for endometrial cancer staging in the obese and morbidly obese woman? Gynecol Oncol 2008;111:41-45.
- (56) Hongqian L, Theresa AL, DongHao L, Huan S, Boggess JF. Robot-assisted surgery in gynaecology. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014(12):Art. No.: CD011422. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011422.
- (57) Tebes SJ, Cardosi RJ, Hoffman MS, Grendys EC. Radical Hysterectomy Versus Extrafascial Hysterectomy in the Management of Stage II Endometrial Carcinoma. J Gynecol Surg 2005;21(3):111-116.
- (58) Eltabbakh GH, Moore AD. Survival of women with surgical stage II endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 1999;74(1):80-85.
- (59) Mariani A, Webb MJ, Keeney GL, Calori G, Podratz KC. Role of wide/radical hysterectomy and pelvic lymph node dissection in endometrial cancer with cervical involvement. Gynecol Oncol 2001;83(1):72-80.
- (60) Wright JD, Fiorelli J, Kansler AL, Burke WM, Schiff PB, Cohen CJ, et al. Optimizing the management of stage II endometrial cancer: the role of radical hysterectomy and radiation. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009:200(4):419.e1-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.11.003.
- (61) Cornelison TL, Trimble EL, Kosary CL. SEER data, corpus uteri cancer: treatment trends versus survival for FIGO stage II, 1988-1994. Gynecol Oncol 1999;74(3):350-355.
- (62) Sartori E, Gadducci A, Landoni F, Lissoni A, Maggino T, Zola P, et al. Clinical behavior of 203 stage II endometrial cancer cases: the impact of primary surgical approach and of adjuvant radiation therapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2001;11(6):430-437.
- (63) Boente MP, Yordan ELJ, McIntosh DG, Grendys ECJ, Orandi YA, Davies S, et al. Prognostic factors and long-term survival in endometrial adenocarcinoma with cervical involvement. Gynecol Oncol 1993;51(3):316-322.
- (64) Ayhan A, Taskiran C, Celik C, Yuce K. The long-term survival of women with surgical stage II endometrioid type endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2004;93:9-13.
- (65) Barlin JN, Puri I, Bristow RE. Cytoreductive surgery for advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer: A meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol 2010;118:14-18.
- (66) Eto T, Saito T, Kasamatsu T, Nakanishi T, Yokota H, Satoh T, et al. Clinicopathological prognostic factors and the role of cytoreduction in surgical stage IVb endometrial cancer: a retrospective multi-institutional analysis of 248 patients in Japan. Gynecol Oncol 2012;127(2):338-344.
- (67) Bristow RE, Zahurak ML, Alexander CJ, Zellars RC, Montz FJ. FIGO Stage IIIC endometrial carcinoma: resection of macroscopic nodal disease and other determinants of survival. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2003;13(5):664-672.
- (68) Havrilesky LJ, Cragun JM, Calingaert B, Synan I, Secord AA, Soper JT, et al. Resection of lymph node metastases influences survival in stage IIIC endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2005;99(3):689-695.
- (69) Guimara es GC, Baiocchi G, Ferreira FO, Kumagai LY, Fallopa CC, Aguiar S, et al. Palliative pelvic exenteration for patients with gynaecological malignancies. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2011;283(5):1107-1112.
- (70) COSA-NZ-UK Endometrial Cancer Groups. Adjuvant medroxyprogesterone acetate in high-risk endometrial cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 1998;8:387-391.
- (71) DePalo G, Mangioni C, Periti P, Del Vecchio M, Marubini E. Treatment of FIGO (1971) stage 1 endometrial carcinoma with intensive surgery, radiotherapy and hormonotherapy according to

- pathological prognostic groups. Long term results of a randomised multicentre trial. Eur J Cancer 1993;29a:1133-1140.
- (72) Lewis GC, Slack NH, Mortel R, Bross I. Adjuvant progestagen therapy in the definitive treatment of endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 1974;2:368-376.
- (73) MacDonald RR, Thorogood J, Mason MK. A randomised trial of progestagens in the primary treatment of endometrial carcinoma. BJOG 1988;95:166-174.
- (74) Malkasian G, Decker D. Aduvant progesterone therapy for stage 1 endometrial cancer. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1978;16:48-49.
- (75) Urbanski K, Karolewski K, Kojs Z, Klimek M, Dyba T. Adjuvant progestagen therapy improves survival in patients with endometrial cancer after hysterectomy. results of one-institutional prospective clinical trial. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol 1993;14 suppl:98-104.
- (76) Vergote I, Kjorstad K, Abeler V, Kolstad P. A randomised trial of adjuvant progestagens in early endometrial cancer. Cancer 1989;64:1011-1016.
- (77) Martin-Hirsch PPL, Bryant A, Keep SL, Kitchener HC, Lilford R. Adjuvant progestagens for endometrial cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(6):Art. No.: CD001040. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001040.pub2.
- (78) Farquhar CM, Marjoribanks J, Lethaby A, Lamberts Q, Suckling JA. Long term hormone therapy for perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009(2):CD004143. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004143.pub3.
- (79) Kokka F, Brockbank E, Oram D, Gallagher C, Bryant A. Hormonal therapy in advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010(12):CD007926. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007926.pub2.
- (80) Kong A, Johnson N, Kitchener HC, Lawrie TA. Adjuvant radiotherapy for stage I endometrial cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012(4):CD003916. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003916.pub4.
- (81) Kong A, Johnson N, Kitchener HC, Lawrie TA. Adjuvant radiotherapy for stage I endometrial cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104(21):1625-1634.
- (82) Reed N. Endometrial cancer: adjuvant treatment of endometrial cancer—radiotherapy, chemotherapy or both. Eur Soc Med Oncology 2008;19(Supplement 7):vii67-vii69.
- (83) Aalders J, Abeler V, Kolstad P, Onsrud M. Postoperative external irradiation and prognostic parameters in stage I endometrial carcinoma: clinical and histopathologic study of 540 patients. Obstet Gynecol 1980;56(4):419-427.
- (84) ASTEC/EN.5 Study Group. Adjuvant external beam radiotherapy in the treatment of endometrial cancer (MRC ASTEC and NCIC CTG EN.5 randomised trials): pooled trial results, systematic review, and meta-analysis. Lancet 2009;373(9658):137-146.
- (85) PORTEC-1 Study Group. Fifteen-year radiotherapy outcomes of the randomized PORTEC-1 trial for endometrial carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;15(81):e631-638.
- (86) Creutzberg CL, van Putten WL, Koper PC, Lybeert ML, Jobsen JJ, Wárlám-Rodenhuis CC, et al. Surgery and postoperative radiotherapy versus surgery alone for patients with stage-1 endometrial carcinoma: multicentre randomised trial. PORTEC Study Group. Post Operative Radiation Therapy in Endometrial Carcinoma. Lancet 2000;355(9213):1404-1411.
- (87) Nout RA, van de Poll-Franse LV, Lybeert ML, Wárlám-Rodenhuis CC, Jobsen JJ, Mens JW, et al. Long-term outcome and quality of life of patients with endometrial carcinoma treated with or without pelvic radiotherapy in the post operative radiation therapy in endometrial carcinoma 1 (PORTEC-1) trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29(13):1692-1700.
- (88) Nout RA, Putter H, Ju'rgenliemk-Schulz IM, Jobsen JJ, Lutgens LCHW, van der Steen-Banasik EM, et al. Quality of life after pelvic radiotherapy or vaginal brachytherapy for endometrial cancer: first results of the randomized PORTEC-2 trial. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(21):3547-3556.
- (89) Nout RA, Smit VT, Putter H, Jürgenliemk-Schulz IM, Jobsen JJ, Lutgens LC, et al. Vaginal brachytherapy versus pelvic external beam radiotherapy for patients with endometrial cancer

- of high-intermediate risk (PORTEC-2): an open-label, non-inferiority, randomised trial.. Lancet 2010;375(9717):816-823.
- (90) Sorbe B, Horvath G, Andersson H, Boman K, Lundgren C, Pettersson B. External pelvic and vaginal irradiation versus vaginal irradiation alone as postoperative therapy in medium-risk endometrial carcinoma a prospective randomised study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;82(3):1249-1255.
- (91) Johnson N, Cornes P. Survival and recurrent disease after postoperative radiotherapy for early endometrial cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 2007;114:1313-1320.
- (92) Keys HM, Roberts JA, Brunetto VL, Zaino RJ, Spirtos NM, Bloss JD, et al. A phase III trial of surgery with or without adjunctive external pelvic radiation therapy in intermediate risk endometrial adenocarcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2004;92(3):744-751.
- (93) Soderini A, Anchezar JP, Sardi JE. Role of adjuvant radiotherapy (RT) in intermediate risk (1b G2-3-1C) endometrioid carcinoma (EC) after extended staging surgery (ESS). Preliminary reports of a randomised trial. . Int J Gynaecol Cancer 2003;13(Supp 1):Abstract P0147:78.
- (94) Creutzberg CL, van Putten WL, Koper PC, Lybeert ML, Jobsen JJ, Wárlám-Rodenhuis CC, et al. Survival after relapse in patients with endometrial cancer: results from a randomized trial.. Gynecol Oncol 2003;89(2):201-209.
- (95) Straughn JM, Numnum TM, Kilgore LC, Partridge EE, Phillips JL, Markman M, et al. The use of adjuvant radiation therapy in patients with intermediate-risk Stages IC and II uterine corpus cancer: A patient care evaluation study from the American College of Surgeons National Cancer Data Base. Gynecol Oncol 2005;99(3):530-535.
- (96) Sorbe B, Nordström B, Mäenpää J, Kuhelj J, Kuhelj D, Okkan S, et al. Intravaginal brachytherapy in FIGO stage I low-risk endometrial cancer: a controlled randomized study. Int J Gynaecol Cancer 2009;19(5):873-878.
- (97) Meyer LA, Bohlke K, Powell MA, Fader AN, Franklin GE, Lee LJ, et al. Postoperative Radiation Therapy for Endometrial Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Endorsement of the American Society for Radiation Oncology Evidence-Based Guideline. J Clin Oncol 2015;33(26):2908-2913.
- (98) Maggi R, Lissoni A, Spina F, Melpignano M, Zola P, Favalli G, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy vs radiotherapy in high-risk endometrial carcinoma: results of a randomised trial. Br J Cancer 2006;95(3):266-271.
- (99) Randall ME, Filiaci VL, Muss H, Spirtos NM, Mannel RS, Fowler J, et al. Randomized phase III trial of whole-abdominal irradiation versus doxorubicin and cisplatin chemotherapy in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 2006;24(1):36-44.
- (100) Watkins Bruner D, Barsevick A, Tian C, Randall M, Mannel R, Cohn D. Quality of life trade-off to incremental gain in survival on Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) Protocol 122: Whole abdominal irradiation (WAI) vs. doxorubicin-platinum (AP) chemotherapy in advanced endometrial cancer. American Society of Clinical Oncology 2003;22:449-Abstract 1803.
- (101) Wolfson AH, Brady MF, Rocereto T, Mannel RS, Lee YC, Futoran RJ, et al. A gynecologic oncology group randomized phase III trial of whole abdominal irradiation (WAI) vs. cisplatinifosfamide and mesna (CIM) as post-surgical therapy in stage I-IV carcinosarcoma (CS) of the uterus.. Gynecol Oncol 2007;107(2):177-185.
- (102) Morrow CP, Bundy BN, Homesley HD, Creasman WT, Hornback NB, Kurman R, et al. Doxorubicin as an adjuvant following surgery and radiation therapy in patients with high-risk endometrial carcinoma, stage I and occult stage II: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Gynecol Oncol 1990;36(2):166-171.
- (103) Susumu N, Sagae S, Udagawa Y, Niwa K, Kuramoto H, Satoh S, et al. Randomized phase III trial of pelvic radiotherapy versus cisplatin-based combined chemotherapy in patients with

- intermediate- and high-risk endometrial cancer: a Japanese Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2008;108(1):226-233.
- (104) Kuoppala T, Mäenpää J, Tomas E, Puistola U, Salmi T, Grenman S, et al. Surgically staged highrisk endometrial cancer: randomized study of adjuvant radiotherapy alone vs. sequential chemo-radiotherapy. Gynecol Oncol 2008;110(2):190-195.
- (105) Hogberg T, Signorelli M, de Oliveira CF, Fossati R, Lissoni AA, Sorbe B, et al. Sequential adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy in endometrial cancer--results from two randomised studies. Eur J Cancer 2010;46(13):2422-2431.
- (106) Johnson N, Bryant A, Miles T, Hogberg T, Cornes P. Adjuvant chemotherapy for endometrial cancer after hysterectomy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011(10):Art. No.: CD003175. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003175.pub2.
- (107) Despierre E, Moerman P, Vergote I, Amant F. Is there a role for neoadjuvant chemotherapy in the treatment of stage IV serous endometrial carcinoma? Int J Gynaecol Cancer 2006;16(Suppl 1):273-277.
- (108) Peters WA, Andersen WA, Thornton WNJ, Morley GW. The selective use of vaginal hysterectomy in the management of adenocarcinoma of the endometrium. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1983;146(3):285-289.
- (109) Podzielinski I, Randall ME, Breheny PJ, Escobar PF, Cohn DE, Quick AM, et al. Primary radiation therapy for medically inoperable patients with clinical stage I and II endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 2012;124:36-41.
- (110) Inciura A, Atkocius V, Juozaityte E, Vaitkiene D. Long-term results of high-dose-rate brachytherapy and external-beam radiotherapy in the primary treatment of endometrial cancer. J Radiat Res 2010;51:675-681.
- (111) Wong JR, Gao Z, Merrick S, Wilson P, Uematsu M, Woo K, et al. Potential for higher treatment failure in obese patients: correlation of elevated body mass index and increased daily prostate deviations from the radiation beam isocenters in an analysis of 1,465 computed tomographic images. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;75(1):49-55.
- (112) Gallos ID, Yap J, Rajkhowa M, Luesley DM, Coomarasamy A, Gupta JK. Regression, relapse, and live birth rates with fertility-sparing therapy for endometrial cancer and atypical complex endometrial hyperplasia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2012;207(4):266e1-12.
- (113) Park JY, Kim DY, Kim JH, Kim YM, Kim KR, Kim YT, et al. Longterm oncologic outcomes after fertility-sparing managementusing oral progestin for young women with endometrial cancer (KGOG 2002). Eur J Cancer 2013;49(4):868-874.
- (114) Laurelli G, Di Vagno G, Scaffa C, Losito S, Del Giudice M, Greggi S. Conservative treatment of early endometrial cancer: preliminary results of a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol 2011;120(1):43-46.
- (115) del Carmen MG, Birrer M, Schorge JO. Uterine papillary serous cancer: a review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol 2012;127(3):651-661.
- (116) Fader AN, Boruta D, Olawaiye AB, Gehrig PA. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma: epidemiology, pathogenesis and management. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2010;22(1):21-29.
- (117) Nicklin JL, Copeland LJ. Endometrial papillary serous carcinoma: patterns of spread and treatment. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1996;39(3):686-695.
- (118) Rosenberg P, Risberg B, Askmalm L, Simonsen E. The prognosis in early endometrial carcinoma. The importance of uterine papillary serous carcinoma (UPSC), age, FIGO grade and nuclear grade. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1989;68(2):157-163.
- (119) Carcangiu ML, Chambers JT. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma: a study on 108 cases with emphasis on the prognostic significance of associated endometrioid carcinoma, absence of invasion, and concomitant ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 1992;47(3):298-305.
- (120) Chan JK, Loizzi V, Youssef M, Osann K, Rutgers J, Vasilev SA, et al. Significance of comprehensive surgical staging in noninvasive papillary serous carcinoma of the endometrium. Gynecol Oncol 2003;90(1):181-185.

- (121) Gehrig PA, Groben PA, Fowler WCJ, Walton LA, Van Le L. Noninvasive papillary serous carcinoma of the endometrium. Obstet Gynecol 2001;97(1):153-157.
- (122) Goff BA, Kato D, Schmidt RA, Ek M, Ferry JA, Muntz HG, et al. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma: patterns of metastatic spread. Gynecol Oncol 1994;54(3):264-268.
- (123) Hui P, Kelly M, O'Malley DM, Tavassoli F, Schwartz PE. Minimal uterine serous carcinoma: a clinicopathological study of 40 cases. Mod Pathol 2005;18(1):75-82.
- (124) Slomovitz BM, Burke TW, Eifel PJ, Ramondetta LM, Silva EG, Jhingran A, et al. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma (UPSC): a single institution review of 129 cases. Gynecol Oncol 2003;91(3):463-469.
- (125) DG M. The new FIGO staging system for cancers of the vulva, cervix, endometrium and sarcomas. Gynecol Oncol 2009(115):325-328.
- (126) Todo Y, Kato H, Kaneuchi M, Watari H, Takeda M, Sakuragi N. Survival effect of para-aortic lymphadenectomy in endometrial cancer (SEPAL study): a retrospective cohort analysis. Lancet 2010;375(9721):1165-1172.
- (127) Bristow RE, Duska LR, Montz FJ. The role of cytoreductive surgery in the management of stage IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 2001;81(1):92-99.
- (128) Memarzadeh S, Holschneider CH, Bristow RE, Jones NL, Fu YS, Karlan BY, et al. FIGO stage III and IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma: impact of residual disease on survival. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2002;12(5):454-458.
- (129) Moller KA, Gehrig PA, Van Le L, Secord AA, Schorge J. The role of optimal debulking in advanced stage serous carcinoma of the uterus. Gynecol Oncol 2004;94(1):170-174.
- (130) Thomas MB, Mariani A, Cliby WA, Keeney GL, Podratz KC, Dowdy SC. Role of cytoreduction in stage III and IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 2007;107(2):190-193.
- (131) Dietrich CS, Modesitt SC, DePriest PD, Ueland FR, Wilder J, Reedy MB, et al. The efficacy of adjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy in Stage I uterine papillary serous carcinoma (UPSC). Gynecol Oncol 2005;99(3):557-563.
- (132) Fader AN, Drake RD, O'Malley DM, Gibbons HE, Huh WK, Havrilesky LJ, et al. Platinum/taxane-based chemotherapy with or without radiation therapy favorably impacts survival outcomes in stage I uterine papillary serous carcinoma. Cancer 2009;115(10):2119-2127.
- (133) Huh WK, Powell M, Leath CA, Straughn JMJ, Cohn DE, Gold MA, et al. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma: comparisons of outcomes in surgical Stage I patients with and without adjuvant therapy. Gynecol Oncol 2003;91(3):470-475.
- (134) Sutton G, Axelrod JH, Bundy BN, Roy T, Homesley H, Lee RB, et al. Adjuvant whole abdominal irradiation in clinical stages I and II papillary serous or clear cell carcinoma of the endometrium: a phase II study of the Gynecologic Oncology Group. Gynecol Oncol 2006;100(2):349-354.
- (135) Lim P, Al Kushi A, Gilks B, Wong F, Aquino-Parsons C. Early stage uterine papillary serous carcinoma of the endometrium: effect of adjuvant whole abdominal radiotherapy and pathologic parameters on outcome. Cancer 2001;91(4):752-757.
- (136) Kelly MG, O'malley DM, Hui P, McAlpine J, Yu H, Rutherford TJ, et al. Improved survival in surgical stage I patients with uterine papillary serous carcinoma (UPSC) treated with adjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy. Gynecol Oncol 2005;98(3):353-359.
- (137) Fields AL, Einstein MH, Novetsky AP, Gebb J, Goldberg GL. Pilot phase II trial of radiation "sandwiched" between combination paclitaxel/platinum chemotherapy in patients with uterine papillary serous carcinoma (UPSC). Gynecol Oncol 2008;108(1):201-206.
- (138) Le TD, Yamada SD, Rutgers JL, DiSaia PJ. Complete response of a stage IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma to neoadjuvant chemotherapy with Taxol and carboplatin. Gynecol Oncol 1999;73(3):461-463.
- (139) Price FV, Amin RM, Sumkin J. Complete clinical responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy for uterine serous carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 1999;73(1):140-144.
- (140) Vandenput I, Van Calster B, Capoen A, Leunen K, Berteloot P, Neven P, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by interval debulking surgery in patients with serous endometrial

- cancer with transperitoneal spread (stage IV): a new preferred treatment? Br J Cancer 2009;101(2):244-249.
- (141) Abeler VM, Vergote IB, Kjørstad KE, Tropé CG. Clear cell carcinoma of the endometrium. Prognosis and metastatic pattern. Cancer 1996;78:1740.
- (142) Lindahl B, Persson J, Ranstam J, Willén R. Long-term survival in uterine clear cell carcinoma and uterine papillary serous carcinoma. Anticancer Res 2010;30(9):3727-3730.
- (143) Zorn KK, Bonome T, Gangi L, Chandramouli GV, Awtrey CS, Gardner GJ, et al. Gene expression profiles of serous, endometrioid, and clear cell subtypes of ovarian and endometrial cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:6422.
- (144) Cirisano FDJ, Robboy SJ, Dodge RK, Bentley RC, Krigman HR, Synan IS, et al. The outcome of stage I-II clinically and surgically staged papillary serous and clear cell endometrial cancers when compared with endometrioid carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 2000;77(1):55-65.
- (145) Hamilton CA, Cheung MK, Osann K, Chen L, Teng NN, Longacre TA, et al. Uterine papillary serous and clear cell carcinomas predict for poorer survival compared to grade 3 endometrioid corpus cancers. Br J Cancer 2006;94(5):642-646.
- (146) Creasman WT, Odicino F, Maisonneuve P, Beller U, Benedet JL, Heintz AP, et al. Carcinoma of the corpus uteri. J Epidemiol Biostat 2001;6(1):47-86.
- (147) Thomas M, Mariani A, Wright JD, Madarek EO, Powell MA, Mutch DG, et al. Surgical management and adjuvant therapy for patients with uterine clear cell carcinoma: a multi-institutional review. Gynecol Oncol 2008;108(2):293-297.
- (148) Patsavas K, Woessner J, Gielda B, Rotmensch J, Yordan E, Bitterman P, et al. Optimal surgical debulking in uterine papillary serous carcinoma affects survival. Gynecol Oncol 2011;121(3):581-585.
- (149) Rauh-Hain JA, Growdon WB, Schorge JO, Goodman AK, Boruta DM, McCann C, et al. Prognostic determinants in patients with stage IIIC and IV uterine papillary serous carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 2010;119(2):299-304.
- (150) Maggioni A, Benedetti Panici P, Dell'Anna T, Landoni F, Lissoni A, Pellegrino A, et al. Randomised study of systematic lymphadenectomy in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer macroscopically confined to the pelvis. Br J Cancer 2008;95(6):699-704.
- (151) Yaegashi N, Ito K, Niikura H. Lymphadenectomy for endometrial cancer: is paraaortic lymphadenectomy necessary? Int J Clin Oncol 2007;12(3):176-180.
- (152) Abu-Rustum NR, Gomez JD, Alektiar KM, Soslow RA, Hensley ML, Leitao MMJ, et al. The incidence of isolated paraaortic nodal metastasis in surgically staged endometrial cancer patients with negative pelvic lymph nodes. Gynecol Oncol 2009;115(2):236-238.
- (153) Mariani A, Dowdy SC, Cliby WA, Gostout BS, Jones MB, Wilson TO, et al. Prospective assessment of lymphatic dissemination in endometrial cancer: a paradigm shift in surgical staging. Gynecol Oncol 2008;109(1):11-18.
- (154) Walsh CS, Karlan BY. Lymphadenectomy's role in early endometrial cancer: prognostic or therapeutic? J Natl Cancer Inst 2008;100(23):1660-1661.
- (155) Mariani A, Dowdy SC, Podratz KC. New surgical staging of endometrial cancer: 20 years later. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2009;105(2):110-111.
- (156) Fotopoulou C, El-Balat A, du Bois A, Sehouli J, Harter P, Muallem MZ, et al. Systematic pelvic and paraaortic lymphadenectomy in early high-risk or advanced endometrial cancer. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2015;292(6):1321-1327.
- (157) Shechter-Maor G, Bruchim I, Ben-Harim Z, Altaras M, Fishman A. Combined chemotherapy regimen of carboplatin and paclitaxel as adjuvant treatment for papillary serous and clear cell endometrial cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2009;19(4):662-664.
- (158) Rauh-Hain JA, Costaaggini I, Olawaiye AB, Growdon WB, Horowitz NS, del Carmen MG. A comparison of outcome in patients with stage 1 clear cell and grade 3 endometrioid adenocarcinoma of the endometrium with and without adjuvant therapy. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol 2010;31(3):284-287.

- (159) Kwon JS, Abrams J, Sugimoto A, Carey MS. Is adjuvant therapy necessary for stage IA and IB uterine papillary serous carcinoma and clear cell carcinoma after surgical staging? Int J Gynecol Cancer 2008;18(4):820-824.
- (160) Miller DS, Filiaci G, Mannel R, Cohn D, Matsumoto T, Tewari K, et al. Randomized Phase III Noninferiority Trial of First Line Chemotherapy for Metastatic or Recurrent Endometrial Carcinoma: A Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Presented at the 2012 Society of Gynecologic Oncology Annual Meeting, Austin, TX 2012.
- (161) Barney BM, Petersen IA, Mariani A, Dowdy SC, Bakkum-Gamez JN, Haddock MG. The role of vaginal brachytherapy in the treatment of surgical stage I papillary serous or clear cell endometrial cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85(1):109-115.
- (162) Townamchai K, Berkowitz R, Bhagwat M, Damato AL, Friesen S, Lee LJ, et al. Vaginal brachytherapy for early stage uterine papillary serous and clear cell endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2013;129(1):18-21.
- (163) Reed NS, Mangioni C, Malmström H, Scarfone G, Poveda A, Pecorelli S, et al. Phase III randomised study to evaluate the role of adjuvant pelvic radiotherapy in the treatment of uterine sarcomas stages I and II: an European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Gynaecological Cancer Group Study (protocol 55874). Eur J Cancer 2008;44(6):808-818.
- (164) Francis M, Dennis NL, Hirschowitz L, Grimer R, Poole J, Lawrence G, et al. Incidence and survival of gynecologic sarcomas in England. Int J Gynaecol Cancer 2015;25(5):850-857.
- (165) Grimer R, Judson I, Peake D, Seddon B. Guidelines for the Management of Soft Tissue Sarcomas. Sarcoma 2010;Article ID 506182.
- (166) Parker WH, Fu YS, Berek JS. Uterine sarcoma in patients operated on for presumed leiomyoma and rapidly growing leiomyoma. Obstet Gynecol 1994;83(3):414-418.
- (167) Major FJ, Blessing JA, Silverberg SG, Morrow CP, Creasman WT, Currie JL, et al. Prognostic factors in early-stage uterine sarcoma. A Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Cancer 1993;71(4 Suppl):1702-1709.
- (168) Zivanovic O, Leitao MM, Iasonos A, Jacks LM, Zhou Q, Abu-Rustum NR, et al. Stage-specific outcomes of patients with uterine leiomyosarcoma: a comparison of the international Federation of gynecology and obstetrics and american joint committee on cancer staging systems. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(12):2066-2072.
- (169) Iasonos A, Keung EZ, Zivanovic O, Mancari R, Peiretti M, Nucci M, et al. External validation of a prognostic nomogram for overall survival in women with uterine leiomyosarcoma. Cancer 2013;119(10):1816-1822.
- (170) Leibsohn S, d'Ablaing G, Mishell DRJ, Schlaerth JB. Leiomyosarcoma in a series of hysterectomies performed for presumed uterine leiomyomas. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1990;162(4):968-976.
- (171) Leitao MM, Sonoda Y, Brennan MF, Barakat RR, Chi DS. Incidence of lymph node and ovarian metastases in leiomyosarcoma of the uterus. Gynecol Oncol 2003;91(1):209-212.
- (172) Kapp DS, Shin JY, Chan JK. Prognostic factors and survival in 1396 patients with uterine leiomyosarcomas: emphasis on impact of lymphadenectomy and oophorectomy. Cancer 2008;112(4):820-830.
- (173) Wright JD, Tergas AI, Burke WM, Cui RR, Ananth CV, Chen L, et al. Uterine pathology in women undergoing minimally invasive hysterectomy using morcellation. JAMA 2014;312(12):1253-1255.
- (174) FDA. Laparoscopic Uterine Power Morcellation in Hysterectomy and Myomectomy: FDA Safety Communication. April 17, 2014; Available at: www.fda.gov, 2016.
- (175) Bogani G, Cliby WA, Aletti GD. Impact of morcellation on survival outcomes of patients with unexpected uterine leiomyosarcoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol 2015;137(1):167-172.
- (176) Lissoni A, Cormio G, Bonazzi C, Perego P, Lomonico S, Gabriele A, et al. Fertility-sparing surgery in uterine leiomyosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol 1998;70(3):348-350.

- (177) Omura GA, Blessing JA, Major F, Lifshitz S, Ehrlich CE, Mangan C, et al. A randomized clinical trial of adjuvant adriamycin in uterine sarcomas: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 1985;3(9):1240-1245.
- (178) Giuntoli RL, Metzinger DS, DiMarco CS, Cha SS, Sloan JA, Keeney GL, et al. Retrospective review of 208 patients with leiomyosarcoma of the uterus: prognostic indicators, surgical management, and adjuvant therapy. Gynecol Oncol 2003;89(3):460-469.
- (179) Hensley ML, Wathen JK, Maki RG, Araujo DM, Sutton G, Priebat DA, et al. Adjuvant therapy for high-grade, uterus-limited leiomyosarcoma: results of a phase 2 trial (SARC 005). Cancer 2013;119(8):1555-1561.
- (180) Leitao MMJ, Zivanovic O, Chi DS, Hensley ML, O'Cearbhaill R, Soslow RA, et al. Surgical cytoreduction in patients with metastatic uterine leiomyosarcoma at the time of initial diagnosis. Gynecol Oncol 2012;125(2):409-413.
- (181) Blackmon SH, Shah N, Roth JA, Correa AM, Vaporciyan AA, Rice DC, et al. Resection of pulmonary and extrapulmonary sarcomatous metastases is associated with long-term survival. Ann Thorac Surg 2009;88(3):877-884.
- (182) Look KY, Sandler A, Blessing JA, Lucci JA, Rose PG, Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) Study. Phase II trial of gemcitabine as second-line chemotherapy of uterine leiomyosarcoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) Study. Gynecol Oncol 2004;92(2):644-647.
- (183) Hensley ML, Maki R, Venkatraman E, Geller G, Lovegren M, Aghajanian C, et al. Gemcitabine and docetaxel in patients with unresectable leiomyosarcoma: results of a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 2002;20(12):2824-2831.
- (184) Hensley ML, Blessing JA, Mannel R, Rose PG. Fixed-dose rate gemcitabine plus docetaxel as first-line therapy for metastatic uterine leiomyosarcoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group phase II trial. Gynecol Oncol 2008;109(3):329-334.
- (185) Judson I, Verweij J, Gelderblom H, Hartmann JT, Schöffski P, Blay JY, et al. Doxorubicin alone versus intensified doxorubicin plus ifosfamide for first-line treatment of advanced or metastatic soft-tissue sarcoma: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014;15(4):415-423.
- (186) Maki RG, Wathen JK, Patel SR, Priebat DA, Okuno SH, Samuels B, et al. Randomized phase II study of gemcitabine and docetaxel compared with gemcitabine alone in patients with metastatic soft tissue sarcomas: results of sarcoma alliance for research through collaboration study 002 [corrected]. J Clin Oncol 2007;25(9):2755-2763.
- (187) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE Trabectedin for the treatment of advanced soft tissue sarcoma. NICE technology appraisal guidance [TA185] 2010 Feb 2010.
- (188) Bodner K, Bodner-Adler B, Kimberger O, Czerwenka K, Leodolter S, Mayerhofer K. Estrogen and progesterone receptor expression in patients with uterine leiomyosarcoma and correlation with different clinicopathological parameters. Anticancer Res 2003;23(1B):729-732.
- (189) Leitao MM, Hensley ML, Barakat RR, Aghajanian C, Gardner GJ, Jewell EL, et al. Immunohistochemical expression of estrogen and progesterone receptors and outcomes in patients with newly diagnosed uterine leiomyosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol 2012;124(3):558-562.
- (190) O'Cearbhaill R, Zhou Q, Iasonos A, Soslow RA, Leitao MM, Aghajanian C, et al. Treatment of advanced uterine leiomyosarcoma with aromatase inhibitors. Gynecol Oncol 2010;116(3):424-429.
- (191) George S, Feng Y, Manola J, Nucci MR, Butrynski JE, Morgan JA, et al. Phase 2 trial of aromatase inhibition with letrozole in patients with uterine leiomyosarcomas expressing estrogen and/or progesterone receptors. Cancer 2014;120(5):738-743.
- (192) Rauh-Hain JA, Goodman A, Boruta DM, Schorge JO, Horowitz NS, del Carmen MG. Endometrial stromal sarcoma: a clinicopathologic study of 29 patients. J Reprod Med 2014;59(11-12):547-552.
- (193) Lee CH, Mariño-Enriquez A, Ou W, Zhu M, Ali RH, Chiang S, et al. The clinicopathologic features of YWHAE-FAM22 endometrial stromal sarcomas: a histologically high-grade and clinically aggressive tumor. Am J Surg Pathol 2012;36(5):641-653.

- (194) Laurelli G, Falcone F, Scaffa C, Messalli EM, Del Giudice M, Losito S, et al. Fertility-sparing management of low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma: analysis of an institutional series and review of the literature. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2015;195:61-66.
- (195) Chan JK, Kawar NM, Shin JY, Osann K, Chen LM, Powell CB, et al. Endometrial stromal sarcoma: a population-based analysis. Br J Cancer 2008;99(8):1210-1215.
- (196) Pink D, Lindner T, Mrozek A, Kretzschmar A, Thuss-Patience PC, Dörken B, et al. Harm or benefit of hormonal treatment in metastatic low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma: single center experience with 10 cases and review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol 2006;101(3):464-469.
- (197) Rauh-Hain JA, del Carmen MG. Endometrial stromal sarcoma: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2013;122(3):676-683.
- (198) The ESMO/European Sarcoma Network Working Group. Soft tissue and visceral sarcomas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2014;25(Suppl 3):iii102-iii112.
- (199) Sutton G, Blessing JA, Park R, DiSaia PJ, Rosenshein N. Ifosfamide treatment of recurrent or metastatic endometrial stromal sarcomas previously unexposed to chemotherapy: a study of the Gynecologic Oncology Group. Obstet Gynecol 1996;87(5 Pt 1):747-750.
- (200) Carroll A, Ramirez PT, Westin SN, Soliman PT, Munsell MF, Nick AM, et al. Uterine adenosarcoma: an analysis on management, outcomes, and risk factors for recurrence. Gynecol Oncol 2014;135(3):455-461.
- (201) Tanner EJ, Toussaint T, Leitao MMJ, Hensley ML, Soslow RA, Gardner GJ, et al. Management of uterine adenosarcomas with and without sarcomatous overgrowth. Gynecol Oncol 2013;129(1):140-144.
- (202) Beaver K, Williamson S, Sutton C, Hollingworth W, Gardner A, Allton B, et al. Comparing hospital and telephone follow-up for patients treated for stage-I endometrial cancer (ENDCAT trial): a randomised, multicentre, non-inferiority trial. BJOG 2017;124(1):150-160.
- (203) Department of Health. Hospital Episodes Statistics. 2010; Available at: http://www.hesonline.nhs.uk, 2016.
- (204) Kew FM, Roberts AP, Cruickshank DJ. The role of routine follow up after gynaecological malignancy. Int J Gynaecol Cancer 2005;15(3):413-419.
- (205) Baekelandt MM, Castiglione M, on behalf of the ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Endometrial carcinoma: ESMO clinical recommendations for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of Oncology 2009;20(Suppl 4):iv29-31.
- (206) Tjalma WAA, Van Dam PA, Markar AP, Cruikshank DJ. The clinical value and the costeffectiveness of follow up in endometrial cancer patients. Int J Gynaecol Oncol 2004;14(5):931-937
- (207) Fung-Kee-Fung M, Dodge J, Elit L, Lukka H, Chambers A, Oliver T, et al. Follow-up after primary therapy for endometrial cancer: a systematic review. Gynecol Oncol 2006;101(3):520-529.
- (208) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE clinical guideline 81. Advanced breast cancer: Diagnosis and treatment. 2014; Available at: www.guidance.nice.org.uk/cg81, 2016.
- (209) Jhingran A, Burke TW, Eifel PJ. Definitive radiotherapy for patients with isolated vaginal recurrence of endometrial carcinoma after hysterectomy. Int J Radiat Oncol 2003;56(5):1366-1372.
- (210) Wylie J, Irwin C, Pintilie M, Levin W, Manchul L, Milosevic M, et al. Results of radical radiotherapy for recurrent endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2000;77(1):66-72.
- (211) Bristow RE, Santillan A, Zahurak ML, Gardner GJ, Giuntoli RL, Armstrong DK. Salvage cytoreductive surgery for recurrent endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2006;103(1):281-287.
- (212) Shepherd JH, Ngan HYS, Neven P, Fryatt I, Woodhouse CRJ, Hendry WF. Multivariate analysis of factors affecting survival in pelvic exenteration. Int J Gynecol Cancer 1994;4(6):361-370.
- (213) Campagnutta E, Giorda G, De Piero G, Sopracordevole F, Visentin MC, Martella L, et al. Surgical treatment of recurrent endometrial carcinoma. Cancer 2004;100(1):89-96.

- (214) Morris M, Alvarez RD, Kinney WK, Wilson TO. Treatment of recurrent adenocarcinoma of the endometrium with pelvic exenteration. Gynecol Oncol 1996;60(2):288-291.
- (215) Barakat RR, Goldman N, Patel D, Venkatraman ES, Curtin JP. Pelvic exenteration for recurrent endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 1999;75(1):99-102.
- (216) Kadkhodayan S, Shahriari S, Treglia G, Yousefi Z, Sadeghi R. Accuracy of 18-F-FDG PET imaging in the follow up of endometrial cancer patients: systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. Gynecol Oncol 2013;128(2):397-404.
- (217) Chung HH, Kang WJ, Kim JW, Park NH, Song YS, Chung JK, et al. The clinical impact of [(18)F]FDG PET/CT for the management of recurrent endometrial cancer: correlation with clinical and histological findings. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2008;35(6):1081-1088.
- (218) Humber CE, Tierney JF, Symonds RP, Collingwood M, Kirwan J, Williams C, et al. Chemotherapy for advanced, recurrent or metastatic endometrial cancer: a systematic review of Cochrane collaboration. Ann Oncol 2007;18(3):409-420.
- (219) Thigpen JT, Brady MF, Homesley HD, Malfetano J, DuBeshter B, Burger RA, et al. Phase III trial of doxorubicin with or without cisplatin in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(19):3902-3908.
- (220) Aapro MS. Doxorubicin versus doxorubicin and cisplatin in endometrial carcinoma: definitive results of a randomised study (55872) by the EORTC Gynaecological Cancer Group. Ann Oncol 2003;14(3):441-448.
- (221) Fleming GF, Brunetto VL, Cella D, Look KY, Reid GC, Munkarah AR, et al. Phase III trial of doxorubicin plus cisplatin with or without paclitaxel plus filgrastim in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(11):2159-2166.
- (222) Miller DS, Filiaci G, Mannel R, Cohn D, Matsumoto T, Tewari K, et al. Late-Breaking Abstract 1: Randomized phase III noninferiority trial of first line chemotherapy for metastatic or recurrent endometrial carcinoma: A Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2012;125(3):771.
- (223) Ang JE, Shah RN, Everard M, Keyzor C, Coombes I, Jenkins A, et al. A feasibility study of sequential doublet chemotherapy comprising carboplatin—doxorubicin and carboplatin—paclitaxel for advanced endometrial adenocarcinoma and carcinosarcoma. Ann Oncol 2009;20(11):1787-1793.
- (224) Muggia FM. Phase II Trial of the Pegylated Liposomal Doxorubicin in Previously Treated Metastatic Endometrial Cancer: A Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 2002;20(9):2360-2364.
- (225) Miller DS, Blessing J, Lentz SS, Waggoner SE. A Phase II Trial of Topotecan in Patients with Advanced, Persistent, or Recurrent Endometrial Carcinoma: A Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Gynecol Oncol 2002;87(3):247-251.
- (226) Lentz SS, Brady MF, Major FJ, Reid GC, Soper JT. High-dose megestrol acetate in advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 1996;14(2):357-361.
- (227) Kauppila A. Oestrogen and progestin receptors as prognostic indicators in endometrial cancer. A review of the literature. Acta Oncol 1989;28(4):561-566.
- (228) Thigpen JT, Brady MF, Alvarez RD, Adelson MD, Homesley HD, Manetta A, et al. Oral medroxyprogesterone acetate in the treatment of advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma: a dose-response study by the Gynecologic Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 1999;17(6):1736-1744.
- (229) Thigpen JT, Brady MF, Homesley HD, Soper JT, Bell J. Tamoxifen in the treatment of advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. J Clin Oncol 2001;19(2):364-367.
- (230) Rose PG, Brunetto VL, VanLe L, Bell J, Walker JL, Lee RB. A phase II trial of anastrozole in advanced recurrent or persistent endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2000;78(2):212-216.

- (231) Ma BB, Oza A, Eisenhauer E, Stanimir G, Carey M, Chapman W, et al. The activity of letrozole in patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer and correlation with biological markers--a study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. Int J Gynaecol Cancer 2004;14(4):650-658.
- (232) Fiorica JV, Brunetto VL, Hanjani P, Lentz SS, Mannel R, Andersen W. Phase II trial of alternating courses of megestrol acetate and tamoxifen in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2004;92(1):10-14.

The British Gynaecological Cancer Society (Charity number (290959), produces guidelines as an education aid to good clinical practice. They present recognised methods and techniques of clinical practice, based on published evidence, for consideration by gynaecological oncologists and other relevant health professionals. The ultimate judgement regarding a particular clinical procedure or treatment plan must be made by the doctor or other attendant in the light of clinical data presented by the patient and the diagnostic and treatment options available. This means that BGCS Guidelines are unlike protocols or guidelines issued by employers, as they are not intended to be prescriptive directions defining a single course of management. Departure from the local prescriptive protocols or guidelines should be fully documented in the patient's case notes at the time the relevant

20. Appendices

i - Evidence level and grades of recommendation for standards of care

Evidence level

1++	High-quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs or RCTs with a very low risk of bias
1+	Well-conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs or RCTs with a low risk of
1 -	bias Meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs or RCTs with a high risk of bias
2++	High-quality systematic reviews of case—control or cohort studies or high-quality
	case-control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding, bias or chance and a
	high probability that the relationship is causal
2+	Well-conducted case-control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding, bias or
	chance and a moderate probability that the relationship is causal
2-	Case-control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding, bias or chance and a
	significant risk that the relationship is not causal
3	Non-analytical studies, e.g. case reports, case series
4	Expert opinion

RCT = randomised controlled trial

Grades of recommendations

Strength		
А	At least one meta-analysis, systematic reviews or RCT's rated as 1++ and directly applicable to the patient population or A systematic review of RCTs or a body of studies rated as 1+ directly applicable to the patient population and demonstrating consistency of results.	
В	Evidence from Level 2++ studies directly applicable to the patient population or extrapolated from level 1 studies	
С	Evidence from Level studies 2+ directly applicable to the patient population or extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2++.	
D	Evidence from Level 3 or 4 studies or extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2+	

ii - FIGO staging of endometrial cancer and uterine sarcomas

Carcinoma of the Endometrium

- Ia Tumour confined to the uterus, no or < ½ myometrial invasion
- Ib Tumour confined to the uterus, > ½ myometrial invasion
- II Cervical stromal invasion, but not beyond uterus
- Illa Tumour invades serosa or adnexa
- IIIb Vaginal and/or parametrial involvement
- IIIc1 Pelvic node involvement
- IIIc2 Para-aortic involvement
- IVa Tumour invasion bladder and/or bowel mucosa
- IVb Distant metastases including abdominal metastases and/or inguinal lymph nodes

Uterine Sarcomas (Leiomyosarcoma, Endometrial Stromal Sarcoma, and Adenosarcoma)

- Ia Tumour limited to uterus <5 cm
- Ib Tumour limited to uterus >5 cm
- IIa Tumour extends to the pelvis, adnexal involvement
- IIb Tumour extends to other uterine pelvic tissue
- Illa Tumour invades abdominal tissues, one site
- IIIb More than one site
- IIIc Metastasis to pelvic and/or para-aortic lymph nodes
- IVa Tumour invades bladder and/or rectum
- IVb Distant metastasis

Adenosarcoma Stage I Differs from Other Uterine Sarcomas

- la Tumour limited to endometrium/endocervix
- Ib Invasion to <1/2 myometrium
- Ic Invasion to >½ myometrium

Refs:

Pecorelli S. FIGO committee on gynecologic oncology: revised FIGO staging for carcinoma of the vulva, cervix and endometrium. Int J Gynecol Oncol 2009;105(2):103-4.

Corrigendum to "FIGO staging for uterine sarcomas" [International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics (2009) 104:179]. Int J Gynecol Obstet 2009;106:277.

iii - Stratification of endometrial cancer risk of recurrence

Low risk	FIGO grade 1, Stage Ia, Ib
	FIGO grade 2, Stage Ia
Intermediate risk	FIGO grade 2, Stage Ib
	FIGO grade 3, Stage Ia
High risk	FIGO grade 3, Stage Ib
	Non endometrioid cancer

iv - Flowchart for management of endometrioid endometrial cancer

